# IT IS SO MUCH MORE THAN THERAPY: MENTAL HEALTH AND MENTAL HEALTHCARE UTILIZATION AMONG TRANSGENDER AND GENDER NON-CONFORMING UNIVERSITY-ENROLLED STUDENTS IN THE UNITED STATES

By

Elinor "Finn" Clark Shelp-Peck

Thesis

Submitted to the Faculty of the

Graduate School of Vanderbilt University

in partial fulfillment of the requirements

for the degree of

MASTER OF ARTS

in

Medicine, Health, and Society

August 11, 2023

Nashville, Tennessee

Approved:

Kirsty A. Clark, Ph.D.

Gilbert Gonzales, Ph.D.

JuLeigh Petty, Ph.D.

Copyright © 2023 Elinor Clark Shelp-Peck
All Rights Reserved

This is dedicated to all of the transgende	r and gender non-conforming indiv You are loved and you are seen.	viduals battling the world around them.
This is dedicated to all of the transgende	r and gender non-conforming indiv You are loved and you are seen.	viduals battling the world around them.
This is dedicated to all of the transgende	r and gender non-conforming indiv You are loved and you are seen.	viduals battling the world around them.
This is dedicated to all of the transgende	r and gender non-conforming indiv You are loved and you are seen.	viduals battling the world around them.
This is dedicated to all of the transgende	r and gender non-conforming indiv You are loved and you are seen.	viduals battling the world around them.

#### ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

First and foremost, I would like to thank the Department of Medicine, Health, and Society at Vanderbilt University for the opportunity to engage in such educational opportunities. Without the guidance of this department, I would not have been able to successfully complete this thesis and learn as much as I did – both inside and outside of the classroom. Next, I would like to thank Dr. Kirsty Clark for her mentorship and support throughout this program and project. Her guidance has been incredibly valuable and has shaped my educational experience at Vanderbilt. I am forever grateful for the skills she has helped me learn. I would also like to thank Dr. Gilbert Gonzales for being willing to step in as my second reader and provide advice and guidance for the completion of this project. I greatly value his input and look forward to potentially collaborating more in the future. I want to thank Dr. JuLeigh Petty for being a shoulder to lean on, a support network, and a great source of guidance throughout my master's program.

I want to thank my loved ones for their support throughout this last year – especially my grandma. Her support and eagerness to learn with me have driven me to be a better student and researcher. I appreciate the time, energy, support, and love that my family has given to my educational endeavors. Without them, this would not have been possible, and I am incredibly grateful to have had this opportunity to grow and learn in the spaces I have been in the last year.

I want to thank the team at the Healthy Minds Network for allowing me to use their data for this project. Thank you for taking the time to curate this survey and distribute it to those who are interested in using it to learn more. I look forward to hopefully using this data set again and investigating other interesting data.

Finally, I want to thank the LGBTQ+ community, specifically in the South. As a non-binary, lesbian-identifying, student, and researcher, this past year has been challenging; to not only exist as a visibly LGBTQ+ identifying person but to witness the struggles of our community. While this has been challenging, I have never felt more love and support from my community. Thank you. I love you.

# TABLE OF CONTENTS

LIST OF TABLES	Page vi
INTRODUCTION	1
LITERATURE REVIEW	
Race and Ethnicity	4
Social Determinants of Health	
Minority Stress	
Behavioral Model of Health Services Use	
Community Building and Resilience	
Mental Health	
Mental Healthcare Utilization	14
University-Enrolled Individuals	14
Identified Gaps	15
Conclusion to the Literature Review	15
METHODS	17
Research Questions and Objectives	17
Data Source	17
Outcome Variables of Interest	18
Cleaning the data	18
Statistical Analysis	19
RESULTS	21
Descriptive Statistics and Frequencies	21
Regressions	23
DISCUSSION	24
Theoretical Frameworks	24
Implications for Mental Healthcare	25
Implications for TGNC University-Enrolled Students	27
Limitations	30
Moving Forward	30
CONCLUSION	32
APPENDIX	33
Tables	33
WORKS CITED	46

# LIST OF TABLES

ge
33
36
37
39
10
11
12
14
3

# INTRODUCTION

The transgender and gender non-conforming (TGNC) population faces significant mental health disparities compared to cisgender individuals – including increased risk of suicidality and self-harm (Clements-Nolle et al., 2006; Poteat et al., 2013; White Hughto et al., 2015; Zaliznyak et al., 2021). There are multiple factors that impact the mental health outcomes of TGNC identifying individuals, including stigma and discrimination (Poteat et al., 2013). Some of the primary frameworks that help shape research surrounding TGNC people and mental and physical health are intersectionality, the minority stress theory, the social-ecological model, the resiliency theory, and the behavioral model of health services use. The benefit of these frameworks as a lens of analysis is that they consider many facets of an individual and community's identity, acknowledging the ways in which they interact and inform life experiences.

At this time, in the United States, discussions of TGNC mental health cannot happen without considering the political battleground that is the TGNC body and existence. At the time of this thesis research, The American Civil Liberties Union was tracking 491 pieces of anti-LGBTQ+ legislation that impact all aspects of life from sports, to educational access, legal documentation corrections, and healthcare access ("Mapping Anti-LGBTQ+ Legislation," 2023). Existing in a state that does not have protective measures in place and is actively legislating against TGNC existence has a negative impact on physical and mental health (Gonzales et al., 2022).

Similar to the heightened focus on the TGNC identity, recent years have highlighted the existing mental health disparities that university-enrolled students face. Students face increasing rates of anxiety, depression, and other mental health conditions (Oswalt et al., 2020). Specifically, graduate students are much more likely to deal with anxiety and depression symptoms than the general population (Evans et al., 2018). In relationship to the increase in poor mental health outcomes among university-enrolled students, there is also an increase in the utilization of mental healthcare services at the university level (Lipson et al., 2019). The increase in mental healthcare utilization can be linked to an increase in the prevalence of poor mental health outcomes and a decrease in stigma surrounding accessing mental healthcare (Lipson et al., 2019). Given the relationship between university enrollment, the politicization of gender identity, and mental health outcomes, analyzing the prevalence of mental healthcare utilization of TGNC university-enrolled individuals is an opportunity to better characterize the nuance between what it means to utilize mental healthcare services and what the outcomes of such utilization are.

My study aimed to investigate this intersection at a time when better understanding of this field of research is paramount to helping TGNC individuals thrive in the face of adversity. I found that TGNC identified individuals reported higher prevalence of mental health diagnoses and symptoms, but also utilized therapy/counseling services at a higher rate. I also chose to investigate whether the time in which university-enrolled students accessed therapy/counseling had an impact on their anxiety scores, depression scores, flourishing scores, and how helpful they thought the services were. Notably, the gap between TGNC and cisgender respondents was the greatest in all outcome variables of interest for those who had never accessed therapy/counseling. In regard to perceived helpfulness, TGNC and cisgender respondents, on average, rated the helpfulness of therapy/counseling the same and this score improved with longevity of care. Finally, I chose to look at alternative support measures; TGNC respondents more often reported that they relied on a friend or professional clinician in times of serious emotional distress and were less likely to report relying on a family member.

The results of my study have broad implications. Primarily, it is important to address that formal mental healthcare does not fix the gap in mental health outcomes between TGNC and cisgender university-enrolled populations, but it does work to lessen the gap. These findings indicate that TGNC people are often willing to utilize an available resource for therapy/counseling, so there is no longer a need to push for simply more mental healthcare, but nuance within such care. This nuance can look like increased representation of TGNC-identifying providers, additional strategies beyond talk therapy to engage with creativity and community networks, and higher quality, TGNC-informed care options. The TGNC respondents in my sample utilized therapy/counseling services more than cisgender respondents, however, the tools in place are not enough to combat the structural limitations involved with being TGNC in the United States. Thus, to close the gap in mental health outcomes between TGNC and cisgender university-enrolled students there must be structural changes coupled with nuanced implementation of mental healthcare services.

#### LITERATURE REVIEW

The intention of this literature review is to identify and analyze how the available literature utilizes qualitative and quantitative data to engage with the health of transgender and gender non-conforming (TGNC)<sup>1</sup> identities and communities in the United States. A significant amount of the available literature addresses mental health outcomes in the TGNC population, while also addressing the role of stigma, discrimination, and the theories that provide a framework for TGNC experiences. Some of the primary frameworks for analysis are intersectionality, the minority stress theory, the social-ecological model, the resiliency theory, and the Behavioral Model of Health Services Use (BMHSU). Many of the theories carry intersecting frameworks and modes of support, making them viable for TGNC population-based research.

Intersectionality is credited to Kimberle Crenshaw and was created as Black feminist legal theory (Crenshaw, 1989). The theory has since been applied outside of Crenshaw's initial framework. Intersectionality aims to consider the variety of intersecting identities that an individual or community holds (Crenshaw, 1989). Minority stress theory relates to the proximal and distal stressors that members of minoritized or stigmatized identities face as part of daily life (Meyer, 2003; Rich et al., 2020). These facets of daily life can present as parts of structural, institutional, and interpersonal influences – as outlined in the social-ecological model (White Hughto et al., 2015). Resiliency theory is founded on the framework of individuals thriving through adverse experiences and achieving success (Greene et al., 2004). Resilience factors are multi-faceted and include measures found in all levels of the social-ecological model (Greene et al., 2004; Nicolazzo, 2016; White Hughto et al., 2015). Finally, the BMHSU works to explain the paths, influences, and behaviors that inform an individuals' utilization of healthcare services (R. Andersen & Aday, 1978). Thus, it is important to understand the multiple layers of risk and protective factors that inform the ability of TGNC-identifying individuals' ability to succeed and thrive. This ability is measured in resilience, or one's ability to overcome adverse situations (Matsuno & Israel, 2018). Resilience is informed by risk and protective factors that support or destruct an individual's positionality in society (Matsuno & Israel, 2018; Nicolazzo, 2016). Therefore, it is an important measure of health in TGNC-related research.

-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Transgender and TGNC are used in accordance with the literature that is being referenced. Not all articles include gender diversity outside of the binary and therefore those data cannot be generalized to gender non-conforming, genderqueer, non-binary, and other gender diverse populations.

With the increasing politicization and divisiveness of the identities within the TGNC community (Parker et al., 2022), it is important to acknowledge the ways that such identity-stress will impact whole community health and thus burden the American healthcare system. By addressing community health concerns and social determinants of health (SDOHs), a burden can be relieved from the entire population – making TGNC and minority health a research priority.

# Race and Ethnicity

A significant portion of the literature centers White and Caucasian TGNC experiences over other races and ethnicities (Adams & Vincent, 2019). In a systematic literature review conducted by Adams and Vincent (2019) they reported that on average 67.75% of TGNC respondents were Caucasian (p. 236). The lack of inclusivity serves as an incredible limitation to the generalizability of TGNC-based research. Adams and Vincent (2019) speculate that the discrepancy in the racial and ethnic diversity of respondent pools is due to sampling measures that do not meet different community needs. Without including a diverse study sample, the TGNC identity is isolated from other intersecting identities and limits the generalizability (Bowleg, 2008; Hankivsky, 2012; Nicolazzo, 2016; White Hughto et al., 2015). This is especially important to highlight because the Williams Institute (Herman et al., 2022) reported that "transgender youth and adults are more likely to report being Latinx and less likely to report being White compared to the U.S. population" (p. 1). Additionally, the National Transgender Discrimination Survey (NTDS) found that structural racism served as a devastating factor in the success of respondents who were not White or Caucasian; specifically, Black and African American respondents fared much worse than other respondents in all areas of the survey (Grant et al., 2011). In 2015, the United States Transgender Survey (USTS) (James et al., 2016) followed up on the results from the NTDS (Grant et al., 2011) and found similar conclusions, such as the fact that of all transwomen, Black transwomen were most likely to be mistaken as sex-workers by law enforcement – further perpetuating harmful stereotypes.

Transwomen face a unique set of challenges. Compared to the general population, transwomen have the highest prevalence of people with a positive HIV diagnosis and the highest AIDS-related mortality (Wilson et al., 2015). Racial and ethnic minority transwomen also tend to have lower educational attainment and were more likely to experience instability in housing (Wilson et al., 2015). The USTS (James et al., 2016) refined these results and found that Native American, Black, Multiracial, and Latinx transwomen are much more likely to have experiences

of homelessness in the past year. Additionally, racial and ethnic minority TGNC individuals were more likely to be uncomfortable being out in academic and professional settings and more likely to have experiences of discrimination based on their TGNC identity or another stigmatized identity (Grant et al., 2011; Nicolazzo, 2016). Such statistics highlight the necessity of intersectionality's role in TGNC research and the need for intentionality in doing so.

#### Social Determinants of Health

Social determinants of health (SDOH) are defined as "the immediate and structural conditions in which people are born, grow, live, work, and age" (Marmot et al., 2013, p. 1661). They are often categorized as: economic stability, education, health and healthcare, neighborhood and built environment, and social and community context (Gómez et al., 2021). Each element does not function individually, but rather they are interconnected structural forces that influence unique individual and community experiences (Gómez et al., 2021). SDOHs are responsible for 40% of group and personal health (*CDC - Social Determinants of Health*, 2022; Gómez et al., 2021; J. Scott, 2019). Thus, these five domains do not just impact members of the TGNC community, but also people from other marginalized communities.

#### Economic (In)Stability

Regarding economic status, transgender people are largely more disadvantaged than other populations as more transgender people were present in the ≤ \$10,000 and \$10-20,000 income bracket and less in the \$50-100,000 and ≥ \$100,000 income bracket than the general U.S. population (U.S. census data) (Adams & Vincent, 2019). This income disparity impacts many facets of transgender individuals' lives, such as housing, healthcare, food, and transportation. Additionally, transgender people reported being four times more likely to be living in "dire poverty," which is characterized as making lower than \$10,000/yr. (Grant et al., 2011, p. 2). Poverty or low household income has been found to consequently increase the already high prevalence of suicidality within the transgender community (Grant et al., 2011; James et al., 2016).

Transgender people are less likely to be employed than their cisgender counterparts, leading to the higher incidence of poverty and housing insecurity (Mann, 2021). Employment status largely influences TGNC individuals' financial status; which is impacted by workplace discrimination, bathroom access, hiring discrimination, workplace acceptance, compensation, and promotions (Casey et al., 2019; Grant et al., 2011; James et al., 2016). In addition to hiring discrimination, 90% of respondents in the NTDS reported discrimination or harassment due to their gender

identity while working and 26% reported losing a job because of their transgender identity (Grant et al., 2011). Therefore, to close gaps in health outcomes between transgender and cisgender individuals the employment gaps must be addressed as well.

#### **Educational Attainment**

Literature displays a declining rate of suicide for both cisgender men and women as educational attainment goes up (Phillips & Hempstead, 2017). Adams and Vincent (2019) report that this holds true for transgender individuals. However, they also report that "research on transgender individuals' educational attainment is relatively scarce, highly variable, and lacking a clear consensus," implying that the variability makes it difficult to generalize and draw conclusions (Adams & Vincent, 2019, p. 240). A study by Wilkinson et al. (2018) found that educational attainment is impacted by the age that transgender individuals reach milestones, such as when they realized gender differences, named their gender identity, and began living as their gender identity. People who reached these milestones in adolescence tended to have higher educational attainment than people who reached them in child- or adulthood (Wilkinson et al., 2018).

Another factor that contributes to differences in educational attainment is school-based discrimination and victimization (Grant et al., 2011; James et al., 2016; Kosciw et al., 2015; Wilkinson et al., 2018). Outness is a key indicator for the amount of school-based victimization that a student will face, which increased victimization and self-esteem (Kosciw et al., 2015). In school aged respondents, increased victimization is correlated to poorer educational outcomes like attendance and GPA; whereas, increased self-esteem is related to a lower prevalence of depression (Kosciw et al., 2015). Such victimization in educational settings proves a detriment to TGNC individuals reaching higher levels of educational attainment.

#### Health and Healthcare

Access to reliable, quality healthcare is impacted by many different factors such as ill-informed providers, discrimination in healthcare settings, access to gender-affirming care, clinical setting gender documentation, and insurance (Blosnich et al., 2017; Borgogna et al., 2021; James et al., 2016; Puckett et al., 2018; Shires et al., 2018). A point of agreement between the clinical world and TGNC population is that clinicians are often ill-prepared to take care of a TGNC patient (James et al., 2016; Shires et al., 2018). Many clinicians report that they lack education to appropriately provide transition-related or primary care to a TGNC patient (Dietz & Halem, 2016; Shires et al.,

2018). In both the NTDS and USTS, respondents reported having to educate their providers on transgender healthcare to receive adequate care (Grant et al., 2011; James et al., 2016). Additionally, 19% of NTDS respondents reported being denied healthcare due to their gender identity (Grant et al., 2011), which further highlights the instances of transphobia that Shires et al. (2018) reported. Microaggressions and discrimination are particularly discouraging in healthcare settings and explain why transgender individuals often wait longer than cisgender people to receive medical treatment (James et al., 2016). TGNC patients, clinicians, and medical experts agree that safe, robust, and informed care is sparce for the TGNC community (Dietz & Halem, 2016; Grant et al., 2011; James et al., 2016; Shires et al., 2018).

Beyond provider knowledge and discrimination in clinical settings, TGNC people also face other barriers to care; both the NTDS and USTS reported that TGNC respondents were less likely to be insured than the rest of the American population (Grant et al., 2011; James et al., 2016). Additionally, insurance providers are not reliable in their coverage of gender-affirming care. The USTS reported that 55% of the individuals who sought out gender-affirming care in the last year were denied insurance coverage, widening the barrier to care (James et al., 2016). While the Affordable Care Act does protect against discrimination based on gender-identity, there are remaining loop-holes that insurance providers can use like yearly maximums that are less than standard costs for gender-affirming care (Anand & Gicheva, 2022; *Know Your Rights: Health Care*, 2021; Puckett et al., 2018). Coverage of gender-affirming care is cost-effective and does not have a significant governmental budget impact; additionally, access to gender-affirming care lowers the incidence of depression, suicide, anxiety, substance abuse, and HIV/AIDS, thus diminishing the overall cost (Padula et al., 2016; Zaliznyak et al., 2021).

# Neighborhood and Built Environment

TGNC individuals have more experiences of homelessness than cisgender individuals, especially transgender women (Felt et al., 2021; Fletcher et al., 2014; Grant et al., 2011; James et al., 2016). In addition to housing insecurities, TGNC individuals face high rates of discrimination in shelters and are more likely to be violently victimized or harassed (James et al., 2016). The COVID-19 pandemic amplified such housing disparities; researchers observed that TGNC individuals faced housing insecurity at nearly triple the rate of cisgender men (Felt et al., 2021). Housing disparities are related to discrepancies in income and employment (Felt et al., 2021; Fletcher et al., 2014). For TGNC youth, parental rejection and initial reactions is a major factor in their housing situation

(Grossman et al., 2021; Wilson et al., 2015). The Trevor Project reported that only 32% of TGNC youth have gender-affirming households; 51% find their schools to be affirming spaces (2022 National Survey on LGBTQ Youth Mental Health, 2022). Such dismal numbers perpetuate the epidemic of TGNC individuals not having safe or affirming spaces to thrive.

#### Social and Community Context

One of the primary perspectives on the implications of social and community context is stigma, which "is the social process of labeling, stereotyping, and rejecting human difference as a form of social control" (White Hughto et al., 2015, p. 223). TGNC identities and bodies are highly stigmatized and subsequently politicized (Parker et al., 2022). Ironically, many Americans agree that there is anti-transgender discrimination, yet few support legislative protection of gender-affirming processes (Parker et al., 2022). Furthermore, U.S. citizens commonly fail to understand or acknowledge the difference between sex and gender (Parker et al., 2022), perpetuating harmful narratives that invalidate TGNC identities.

Researchers agree that the pervasiveness of stigma surrounding TGNC identities is linked to higher rates of depression, suicide, HIV, anxiety, and other poor health outcomes (Becerra-Culqui et al., 2018; Clements-Nolle et al., 2006; Grant et al., 2011; James et al., 2016; Poteat et al., 2013; Tan et al., 2022). Stigma can is also linked to parental rejection; positive parental reactions are tied to lower rates of depression, parental abuse, and LGBTQ+ disclosure stress, but 50% of TGNC youth still experience LGBTQ+ disclosure stress after their initial coming out (Grossman et al., 2021). Such experiences lead to a much lower quality of life and additional adverse health outcomes (White Hughto et al., 2015; Zaliznyak et al., 2021).

Outside the impact of stigmatization, research displays that TGNC people face higher rates of violence (Dowd, 2021; Grant et al., 2011; James et al., 2016; Peitzmeier et al., 2020). The Williams Institute found that transgender individuals were four times more likely to be a victim of a violent crime (Dowd, 2021). Beyond general violent acts, TGNC individuals are much more likely than cisgender people to be victims of intimate partner violence (IPV) (Peitzmeier et al., 2020). Discrimination in housing and employment compounded with increased rates of violence create further mental health disparities (Felt et al., 2021; Grant et al., 2011; James et al., 2016; Peitzmeier et al., 2020). Instances of institutional violence are glaring within the prison system, where transgender individuals are incarcerated at higher rates than cisgender people and transwomen face higher rates than transmen, oftentimes

without access to informed healthcare and fair treatment (Clark et al., 2017). Addressing the social context in which TGNC individuals exist is pertinent to improving quality of life and health outcomes.

# Minority Stress

Ilan Meyer (2003) is credited with popularizing minority stress theory – initially based on LGB experiences with mental health. However, the theory was originated by Virginia Rae Brooks, later known as Winn Kelly Brooks, in a 1981 book titled *Minority Stress and Lesbian Women* (Brooks, 1981; Rich et al., 2020). The theory is grounded in stigma, prejudice, and discrimination, explaining how these experiences are tied to mental health outcomes within LGB populations (Meyer, 2003). Since the initial publication of minority stress, the model has been expanded to include gender minority experiences as well (Feldman et al., 2021; White Hughto et al., 2022; Wittlin et al., 2023). Much of the literature about TGNC people and minority stress discusses the role of politicization on how TGNC people experience minority stress – increasing the disparities in mental and physical health (Feldman et al., 2021; Wittlin et al., 2023).

Meyer's minority stress theory is characterized by two types of stressors: proximal and distal (Meyer, 2003). Proximal stressors are linked to personal identity and often are more subjective; distal stressors are objective and often external to the identity (Meyer, 2003). Examples of proximal stressors include internalized stigma, and fear of disclosing a TGNC identity (Wittlin et al., 2023). Distal stressors may be actions taken by other people such as violent acts or verbal harassment but also includes parental rejection (Wittlin et al., 2023). Brooks' model is a systems-based approach including cultural, social and economic, psychological, and biophysical stressors that impact an individual and community's daily life (Rich et al., 2020). Cultural stressors are a "categorically ascribed inferiority based on a single characteristic" (Rich et al., 2020, p. 125). These feed into social and economic stressors that include discriminatory acts – leading to psychological impacts like decreased self-esteem (Rich et al., 2020). The previous systems end at the biophysical effect which is a "state of stress" (Rich et al., 2020, p. 125).

Research utilizing the minority stress model directly relates experiences of proximal and distal stressors to worse mental and physical health outcomes for TGNC individuals (Feldman et al., 2021; White Hughto et al., 2022; Wittlin et al., 2023). In a study comparing results from the 2015 USTS, Transpop, and studies utilizing the Behavioral Risk Factor Surveillance System, TGNC respondents had higher incidence of HIV, emphysema, and ulcers along with more "poor mental health days" (Feldman et al., 2021, p. 1707). Furthermore, an analysis of

mental health status of TGNC people living in states threatening to enact anti-transgender legislation (distal stressor) found that these populations report higher incidence of anxiety and depression (White Hughto et al., 2022). A literature review of TGNC-youth related research found that such mental health outcomes impact TGNC youth as well (Wittlin et al., 2023). Dealing with regular distal and proximal stressors heightened the risk of anxiety, depression, and other clinical mental health diagnosis (Wittlin et al., 2023). Thus, research about TGNC individuals and mental health cannot exist outside of the lens of minority stress theory.

# Behavioral Model of Health Services Use

The Behavioral Model of Health Services Use (BMHSU) was proposed in the late 1960s and has since been expanded to include sexual and gender minorities (R. M. Andersen, 1995; Kittle, 2021). The original BMHSU outlined a path: predisposing characteristics, enabling resources, need, and use of health services (R. M. Andersen, 1995, p. 2). Andersen states that predisposing characteristics include demographic information, social structures/status, and health beliefs; this part of the model was originally criticized for not "paying enough attention to social networks, social interactions, and culture" (R. M. Andersen, 1995, p. 2). Enabling resources include personal/family, and community which includes support and access (R. M. Andersen, 1995, p. 3). The enabling resources were criticized for not fully considering organizational factors, like knowledge of types of medical care and providers, and needing more precise models for insurance coverage and benefits (R. M. Andersen, 1995, p. 3). The final step towards the use of health services is both perceived and evaluated need (R. M. Andersen, 1995, p. 2). While the model has been criticized for over-emphasizing the impact of need, an individual's use of health services deeply depends on their own experiences with perceived healthiness and functionality in relationship to professional judgement of need (R. M. Andersen, 1995, p. 3). Each of these factors is used to explain utilization of healthcare services through different outcome factors like "physician ambulatory care, hospital and physician inpatient services, and dental care which families consumed over a year's time" (R. M. Andersen, 1995, p. 3). Through application of the framework, each step of Andersen's BMHSU has been expanded to accommodate more flexibility within the model. In regard to TGNC populations, gender identity and expression are considered to be predisposing characteristics that impact a person's ability to access health services (Kittle, 2021). A study published in 2020 using data from a 2014-2015 dataset of university-enrolled students in the U.S. that looked at how well the BMHSU could predict mental healthcare utilization in university-enrolled student populations (Pilar et al., 2020).

Pilar et al. (2020) found that transgender identifying students were more likely than female respondents to seek oncampus mental healthcare – serving as a predisposing characteristic. The same study found that as each level of the BMHSU was added to statistical modeling the predictive value of the BMHSU increased (Pilar et al., 2020). While the study found that BMHSU levels accounted for 22% of variance in mental healthcare utilization, it concluded that the BMHSU could be used to identify in-need populations on college campuses (Pilar et al., 2020, pp. 640-641). This model can be interwoven with minority stress to look at the impact of predisposing characteristics and proximal and distal stressors as indicators of need and utilization of mental healthcare services (R. M. Andersen, 1995; Rich et al., 2020).

#### Community Building and Resilience

Significant amounts of TGNC-descriptive literature discusses the prevalence of resiliency as a success measure (Grant et al., 2011; James et al., 2016; Kosciw et al., 2015; Nicolazzo, 2016; White Hughto et al., 2015). The pervasiveness of resilience goes beyond localized academic surveys, but also appears in national surveys like the USTS and NTDS (Grant et al., 2011; James et al., 2016). Resiliency theory creates a discussion between risk factors and protective factors that impact an individual or community's ability to succeed (Nicolazzo, 2016), Matsuno and Israel (2018) define resilience as "broad sense of 'overcoming adversities'" (p. 637). For the TGNC community, structural risk factors include transphobia, stigma, and genderism (Nicolazzo, 2016; White Hughto et al., 2015). Specifically, genderism "is a cultural belief that perpetuates negative judgments of people who do not present as a stereotypical man or woman" (Hill & Willoughby, 2005, p. 534). This theory relates to transphobia: the feelings of disgust or intolerance that individuals have for people who identify as transgender (Hill & Willoughby, 2005). TGNC individuals' ability to thrive in the face of pervasive genderism and transphobia is a demonstration of measurable resilience.

Measures of resilience include outness, ability to overcome systemic and institutional violence, persistence, and retention (Kosciw et al., 2015; Nicolazzo, 2016). However, it is important to note that simply defining resiliency as one factor or outcome neglects the intersectionality of many TGNC individuals' identities and isolates the struggles of TGNC people from intersecting communities and kinships (Bowleg, 2008; Nicolazzo, 2016). The use of resilience as a success measure is a concept that I have mixed impressions of because it presents as a privileged stance to success. Foucault (2015) discusses the concept of othering or social laws as being "made by people for

whom they are not intended and applied to those who did not make them" (p. 22). Which can be related to the previously presented ideas behind genderism and transphobia (Kosciw et al., 2015; Nicolazzo, 2016), as social laws created by hegemonic forces to contain those outside of social spheres that satisfy the norm (Foucault, 2015). Personally, I believe that incorporating resilience as the standard of success can diminish the importance of small successes that do not necessarily indicate a complete interruption of risky patterns. However, the necessity of creating a measurable standard to view success and growth within traditionally harmful risk factors that impact the TGNC community outweigh the harms to using resilience as an improvement measure.

Community building or the development of kinship is particularly important to the promotion of resilience in TGNC individuals (Grant et al., 2011; Nicolazzo, 2016). Kinship is traditionally regarded as being between blood relatives, but LGBTQ+ individuals have historically created 'chosen families' between themselves (Matsuno & Israel, 2018; Nicolazzo, 2016). Community spaces or groups are important for creating support networks within larger settings like universities or offices (Grant et al., 2011). Studies show that the promotion of TGNC kinship and community is an intervention that is valuable at any life stage and fosters resilience in TGNC populations (Grant et al., 2011; James et al., 2016; Matsuno & Israel, 2018; Nicolazzo, 2016). These findings are supported by the Transgender Resilience Intervention Model, which advocates for belonging, support, activism, and the inclusion of role models as a way to advance an individual's ability to thrive (Matsuno & Israel, 2018). Hence supporting the notion that to create resilient networks of TGNC people, interventions must be done for not just individuals, but also at structural, institutional, and interpersonal levels (Matsuno & Israel, 2018; Nicolazzo, 2016; White Hughto et al., 2015).

## Mental Health

Prior to discussing mental health trends in the TGNC community, it is important to address the accuracy of such measures. Borgogna et al. (2021) analyzed the Patient Health Questionnaire-9 (PHQ-9) and the Generalized Anxiety Disorder-7 (GAD-7) for the reliability and applicability of results between cisgender/heterosexual individuals and LGBTQ+ people. These surveys are often used in medical settings to access for anxiety and depression, often making them responsible for or helping to diagnose patients with a mental health disorder (Borgogna et al., 2021). They found that the PHQ-9 and GAD-7 are not always reliable for LGBTQ+ populations because these populations experience different types of stress than cisgender/heterosexual people (Borgogna et al., 2021). There is even variation within the LGBTQ+ population because sexual and gender minorities have different experiences with

minority stress, as well as the compounding factor of socioeconomic status and race/ethnicity (Borgogna et al., 2021; Meyer, 2003).

Another important factor in mental health outcomes for TGNC individuals is the stage in life in which they start to transition (Turban et al., 2021). This is also related to the implications of how out a person is or their outness level (James et al., 2016; Kosciw et al., 2015). While outness is associated with greater in-school victimization, it is also correlated to higher self-esteem and lower depressive symptoms – solidifying the importance of TGNC students having safe spaces to be out (Kosciw et al., 2015). Turban et al. (2021) found that, compared to those who transitioned in adulthood, TGNC individuals who transitioned in adolescence had greater odds of lifetime suicide attempts and mental health disorders. This further highlights the lasting role that in-school, at-home victimization, and ostracization have on TGNC individuals.

In regard to adverse mental health outcomes, the literature is in agreement that TGNC individuals are at a much higher risk for suicidality (Clements-Nolle et al., 2006; Poteat et al., 2013; White Hughto et al., 2015; Zaliznyak et al., 2021). Zaliznyak et al. (2021) reports that of their sample population, 40% had attempted suicide in the last year, compared to 4.6% of the general U.S. population. This amplifies the disparities that are visible throughout the review of the SDOHs that impact TGNC individuals, necessitating the introduction and implementation of new and improved interventions.

Another factor that leads to an increased risk for suicidality is unaddressed gender dysphoria (GD), which is the diagnosable incongruence between a person's intrinsic idea of gender and their sex assigned at birth (SAB) (Zaliznyak et al., 2021). Treatment for GD ranges from psychotherapy to hormone replacement therapy to surgical interventions (Butler et al., 2019; Matsuno & Israel, 2018). Research shows that access to gender-affirming care such as those interventions lead to lower levels of anxiety and depressive symptoms and increase the odds of favorable health outcomes (Butler et al., 2019; Matsuno & Israel, 2018; Puckett et al., 2018; Zaliznyak et al., 2021). Additionally, those who wait longer to treat GD tend to have a longer history with non-suicidal self-injury than those who seek care faster (Dickey et al., 2022; Jackman et al., 2016, 2018). These conclusions further necessitate the conversations between legislators, medical providers, and the TGNC community to create and implement gender-affirming interventions.

#### Mental Healthcare Utilization

There is a gap in comprehensive literature specific to TGNC students' experiences with mental healthcare utilization and subsequent outcomes. Recent articles exploring mental healthcare utilization of TGNC people cite the need for further investigation into TGNC-specific care methods, cultural competency of providers, and reasons that TGNC people do not access psychiatric care (Baams et al., 2018; Beckwith et al., 2019; White & Fontenot, 2019). An important factor that Carter et al. (2020) found to influence mental and physical healthcare utilization was insurance status – uninsured TGNC people were less likely to have seen a therapist or psychiatric provider. Insurance status for TGNC individuals is linked to access to mental healthcare and therefore, also gender-affirming biomedical care. Much of the literature cites a need for better trained mental healthcare professionals as a way to increase mental healthcare utilization and satisfaction, while also recognizing the gap in TGNC-specific research (Ebert et al., 2019; Qureshi et al., 2018)

Additionally, significant amount of literature focusing on TGNC identities engages with youth, compared to adults (Hisle-Gorman et al., 2021; Kosciw et al., 2015; Wittlin et al., 2023). Of the literature that engages with students, the research either does not focus on LGBTQ+ or leaves out TGNC identities and focuses on sexuality as demographic information (Baams et al., 2018; Ebert et al., 2019). In a study looking at barriers to mental healthcare utilization in first-year university students, Ebert et al. (2019) asked their respondent pool for gender identity and then decided to not include TGNC identities in their final analysis due to a small sample size and lived experience – leaving out TGNC experiences with mental healthcare. Baams et al. (2018) followed a similar sampling method when reviewing the relationship between mental health service usage and sexuality in college students; ultimately they decided to remove transgender-identified respondents because of a small sample size – citing a need for further research with TGNC populations.

# University-Enrolled Individuals

Much less of the literature focuses on university-enrolled students specifically. University-enrolled individuals report higher rates of depression and anxiety symptoms as well as an increased prevalence of other mental health conditions (Evans et al., 2018; Oswalt et al., 2020; Thomas et al., 2021). Such experiences are linked to lower retention rates, higher substance use, and lower on-campus involvement (Thomas et al., 2021). Mental health status dramatically impacted students' experiences and ability to succeed in higher education. Much of the literature that

discusses mental health and mental healthcare utilization in university-enrolled populations advocates for more robust mental health services at the university level (Pascale & DeVita, 2022; Thomas et al., 2021). Another research study link educational attainment with decreased suicidality, situating access to quality education as an intervention point for bettering mental health outcomes (Phillips & Hempstead, 2017). Thus, mental health support within higher education, educational outcomes, and mental health outcomes are inextricably interwoven – making college student mental health a research priority. Between the rising prevalence of poor mental health in both university-enrolled and TGNC individuals, the intersection of these populations serves as an intervention point with great opportunity.

## **Identified Gaps**

A significant amount of the available, published literature about TGNC mental health discusses the prevalence of suicidality, suicidal ideation, suicide attempts, and the incidence of intentional self-harm (Adams & Vincent, 2019; Clements-Nolle et al., 2006; M. E. Eisenberg et al., 2017; Pascale & DeVita, 2022; Zaliznyak et al., 2021).

However, much of the literature fails to recognize the difference in mental healthcare utilization between the TGNC population and cisgender individuals. The literature demonstrates the pervasiveness of mental health struggles and experiences with suicidality but does not explore whether there is a difference in the rates of mental healthcare utilization. Therefore, it cannot be investigated whether mental health-based interventions would benefit the TGNC community or if other factors, like SDOHs, need to be addressed for such interventions to make measurable change. Potential areas for improvement include policy creation and systematic changes to existing systems that inform SDOHs and minority stress, which influence health and health outcomes as much as biological factors (Blosnich et al., 2017; J. Scott, 2019). Because of this gap in the literature, I will investigate if there is a difference in mental healthcare utilization between those who need it in TGNC populations and cisgender individuals and the self-reported helpfulness of such services. This research will help to better inform those who are creating mental health interventions for vulnerable populations in the TGNC community, thus strengthening the greater community and improving health outcomes.

#### Conclusion to the Literature Review

Through this literature review I have concluded that there is an increasingly great breadth of knowledge on factors that impact TGNC-identifying individuals and university-enrolled students and their mental health outcomes.

Research is expanding to be more inclusive of TGNC identifying people and has started to engage more with university-enrolled populations. However, there remains a lot of room for improvement, including the available research regarding how mental healthcare utilization impacts mental health outcomes in TGNC university-enrolled populations. This literature review has also revealed the primary theoretical frameworks that inform research moving forward: intersectionality, the minority stress theory, the social-ecological model, the resiliency theory, and the behavioral model of health services use. These frameworks will be the guiding factors for my own research project and will hopefully inform future projects. In conclusion, there is an expansive amount of literature that investigates mental health outcomes and social determinants of health as they relate to the TGNC population; however, there is a disparity in available data that looks at mental healthcare utilization and mental health outcomes in university-enrolled TGNC students.

### **METHODS**

# Research Questions and Objectives

# Research Questions

There were three primary research questions that I chose to investigate. The first asked whether in the American university-enrolled student population, are there differences in mental healthcare utilization between TGNC and cisgender students? In relationship to that, I also wanted to look at what the differences were in accessing informal sources of mental health support (e.g., peer, community) between TGNC and cisgender students. The third investigates among the students who have accessed formal mental healthcare services, does the time in which they have accessed those services impact their mental health outcomes and perceived helpfulness of such services?

# **Objectives**

The primary objective was to analyze the differences in mental healthcare utilization and mental health outcomes among TGNC and cisgender-identified university-enrolled students. Additionally, I wanted to investigate the impact of when a participant utilized mental health services in comparison to their reported mental health outcomes and perceived helpfulness of such services.

### Data Source

The quantitative analysis that I conducted utilized the 2021-22 Healthy Minds Study (HMS) data (Healthy Minds Network, 2022). The study team is comprised of individuals from multiple institutions across the United States: the University of California in Los Angeles, the University of Michigan, Wayne State University, and Boston University (*HMN Team*, n.d.). The survey has been conducted annually for over 15 years at approximately 450 post-secondary institutions in the U.S. (Healthy Minds Network, 2022).

The HMS aims to characterize mental health, mental healthcare, health behaviors, and support measures in university-enrolled students (Healthy Minds Network, 2022). The survey is web-based; the survey is distributed via email to randomly selected students enrolled at a participating college or university (D. Eisenberg et al., 2022). The HMS team used non-response weighting techniques to control the missing respondents (*HMS Codebook 2021-22*, 2022).

#### Outcome Variables of Interest

To investigate the prevalence of specific mental health conditions my variables of interest included the cumulative results from the Patient Health Questionnaire 9 (PHQ-9), which measures depression symptoms, the Generalized Anxiety Disorder (GAD-7) Questionnaire, measuring anxiety symptoms, and the Diener test (i.e. the flourishing score), measuring positive mental health (Diener et al., 2010; Kroenke et al., 2001; Spitzer et al., 2006). I also engaged with survey questions which identified if a respondent had a diagnosed mental health condition and if so, what it was (Healthy Minds Network, 2022).

To characterize mental healthcare utilization, I engaged with survey questions which identified if a respondent had ever received therapy/counseling, when they received it, if they had used a psychotropic drug in the last 12 months, what it was, and how helpful they thought therapy/counseling was (Healthy Minds Network, 2022). Additionally, I also looked at who respondents went to for general support and support during emotional distress (Healthy Minds Network, 2022).

# Cleaning the data

Prior to cleaning, the dataset consisted of 95,860 respondents. I uploaded the .sav and SPSS files respectively into SAS 9.4 and SPSS for cleaning and statistical analysis. I found that most of the variables were coded as 'numerical' in SPSS but needed to be in 'string' format for SAS to accurately create frequency tables. Therefore, I began by transforming the relevant variables into 'string' variables.

First, I ran frequency analyses in SAS to analyze the variable for SAB for all study respondents. Upon review of this data, I made the decision to remove intersex individuals from the study population because there were only 63 (0.07%) respondents that reported this as their SAB. This sample size is not large enough to make any statistically significant claims regarding that population of individuals and mental healthcare utilization.

Next, I began creating variables for gender identity. The survey used a two-step population-based approach to identify SAB and gender identity. To identify the TGNC respondents in the data pool I created a new variable that listed everyone who selected female for SAB and only female/woman for gender identity and male for SAB and only male/man for gender identity as cisgender. Given the small sample size I characterized all other respondents as TGNC (n = 4,788). Everyone who did not have a response for SAB and gender identity was dropped from the sample, leaving the final sample size to be 94,177 respondents.

#### Statistical Analysis

#### Weighting

I chose to use unweighted data for my statistical analysis. Statistical weighting is often based on SAB, thus it becomes less reliable for TGNC based samples (Gonzales et al., 2022; Lett & Everhart, 2022). Additionally, The Healthy Minds team used a female-male weighting method and did not assigned weights to respondents with

"nonbinary gender identities ... because we are generally not able to obtain accurate statistics on the representation of these groups in the full student population. Therefore, rather than making assumptions, we assign a weight value to students with nonbinary identifies that leaves their representation in the weighted sample the same as in the unweighted sample" (*HMS Codebook 2021-22*, 2022, p. 3).

In their preliminary data cleaning, The Healthy Minds team grouped genderqueer, gender non-conforming, and non-binary responses into a single answer choice versus their initial divide in the survey. Using weighted data for binary respondents while leaving non-binary/gender non-conforming respondents unweighted lessens the reliability and generalizability of results for TGNC populations.

#### **Frequencies**

Using SAS 9.4, I ran frequencies, found in Table 1, to characterize the study population and further stratified into cisgender and TGNC respondents to better compare the two sample populations. The demographic information recorded for all respondents was: age, SAB, gender identity, degree enrolled in school, enrollment status, relationship status, Hispanic/Latinx, race/ethnicity, current financial stress, financial stress growing up, registered as having disability status on campus, and health insurance status.

All frequency calculations stratify for TGNC versus cisgender identity. For mental health status (Table 2) I used mean and standard deviation to characterize depression, anxiety, and flourishing scores while using n and percent values to characterize if the respondent has a diagnosed mental health condition and if so, what it was. I used n and percent values to look at if a respondent had ever used therapy, when they did, if they had used a medication, if so, which one, and how helpful they found therapy/counseling to be (Table 3). I also used the mean overall rating – respondents could rank it from very helpful [1] to not helpful [4] – as a way to look at the perceived helpfulness of therapy/counseling. To characterize modes of support (Table 4), I used n and percent values when identifying who a respondent has gone to for general mental or emotional health support in the past 12 months and who they would

talk to during serious emotional distress. Finally, I decided to look at the relationship between when a respondent accessed therapy services and their average depression score, anxiety score, flourishing score, and perceived helpfulness of therapy/counseling coupled with standard deviation.

#### Regressions

Using SAS 9.4 I conducted general linear regression modeling using the "proc genmod" function. I set my covariates to be sex assigned at birth (male versus not), race (White versus not), sexuality (heterosexual versus not), insurance status (parental insurance versus not), and age; my main outcome of interest was the relationship between TGNC identity and mental health outcomes, and if or when a respondent utilized therapy/counseling. I conducted three models with the outcomes being anxiety, depression, and flourishing scores. Two were adjusted and one was unadjusted (Table 6, Table 7); for all models the parameter set was the comparison of TGNC identifying respondents to cisgender respondents. Table 6 displays both the adjusted and unadjusted model that looks at gender identity and mental health outcomes. Table 7 displays an adjusted model that relates gender identity, timeliness of accessing services, and mental health outcomes. In Tables 6 and 7 I recorded the estimate, 95% confidence intervals, and p-values. Statistical significance was classified as p < .05.

# **RESULTS**

The results reported were created using frequency and prevalence measures, means, and logistic regression modeling in SAS 9.4. These results are meant to answer the primary research questions of this study, which look at the relationship between mental healthcare utilization, mental health outcomes, and TGNC identities. The analysis of existing disparities in mental health outcomes allows for a baseline understanding of the university-enrolled population, while stratifying for TGNC identity. Characterizing the utilization of mental healthcare such as therapy/counseling and psychotropic medication answers the question of whether students with TGNC identities use these services at a different rate than cisgender students. The variables about informal support measures look at how TGNC individuals utilize peer and family support in comparison to professional/clinical support. Finally, looking at when respondents utilized therapy services (before, during, or both before and during college) and the relationship between that, TGNC identity, and mental health outcomes answers whether timeliness of therapy makes a significant impact.

## Descriptive Statistics and Frequencies

In total, there were 4,788 (5.08%) TGNC identified respondents and 89,389 (94.92%) cisgender identified respondents. On average, TGNC respondents were younger than cisgender respondents (21.6 and 23.5 respectively) (Table 1). Some of the primary findings show that TGNC respondents were less likely to report a heterosexual identity (7.21% of TGNC respondents vs.77.44% of cisgender respondents). Of the TGNC respondents 80.41% reported being assigned female at birth and 71.57% of cisgender respondents reported this. In regard to gender identity, which was select all that apply: 13.83% selected male/man, 17.91% selected female/woman, 16.19% selected trans male/trans man, 5.33% selected trans female/ trans woman, 13.07% selected genderqueer/gender non-conforming/non-binary, and 70.03% chose to self-identify. In both cisgender and TGNC respondents, a majority identified themselves as enrolled in a bachelor's program (59.25% and 69.49% respectively); most respondents were also enrolled as fulltime students (85.9% cisgender and 88.51% of TGNC respondents). Demographic information in Table 1 also reports that most of the respondents did not report having a Hispanic/Latinx identity (84.25% of cisgender and 85.46% of TGNC respondents), while a majority of both cisgender and TGNC respondents reported being White (66.65% and 75.17% respectively). More TGNC respondents reported having a disability registered with their school's office of disability services (20.36% vs. 9.17% of cisgender respondents) and state that they have

a diagnosed disability, but it is not registered with their institution's office (23.93% vs. 8.54% of cisgender respondents). Finally, more TGNC respondents reported still being on their parent or guardian's health insurance plan (62.03%) in comparison to their cisgender peers (49.94%).

#### Mental Health Outcomes

In my respondent pool, TGNC people's depression scores, according to the PHQ-9 with a scale of 0 to 27 points, were on average 4.74 points higher than cisgender respondents (13.92 vs. 9.19) (Table 2). Using the GAD-7 with a scale of 0 to 21 points, TGNC people had an average score that was 3.24 points higher than cisgender respondents (11.32 vs. 8.08) (Table 2). Using the Diener test to measure positive mental health or flourishing scores with a scale of 8 to 56, TGNC respondents scored, on average, 5.82 points lower (36.90 vs. 42.71) (Table 2). Furthermore, 77.83% of TGNC respondents reported having a diagnosed mental health condition, compared to 44.97% of cisgender respondents (Table 2). In relation to the anxiety and depression scores of TGNC respondents, over half reported having a depression and/or anxiety diagnosis (52.38% and 55.72%) (Table 2).

#### Mental Healthcare Utilization

Overall, more TGNC respondents reported using therapy/counseling services in their lifetime compared to cisgender respondents (83.09% and 53.47% respectively) (Table 3). In regard to when this service was utilized, 43.55% of TGNC respondents reported utilizing therapy/counseling both prior to and during college compared to 19.76% of cisgender respondents (Table 3). Furthermore, over half (52.89%) of TGNC respondents reported having used a medication in the last 12 months, versus 27.61% of cisgender respondents (Table 3). Notably, 37.09% of TGNC respondents reported being on an anti-depressant in the last 12 months, compared to 17.51% of cisgender respondents (Table 3). 72.39% of cisgender respondents stated that they had not used any of the listed medications in the last 12 months, whereas only 47.11% of TGNC respondents said they had not taken any medications in 12 months (Table 3).

Respondents were also asked to rank the perceived helpfulness of therapy/counseling services on a scale of 1 (very helpful) to 4 (not helpful). The average response for TGNC individuals was 2.14 and cisgender people averaged a score of 2.17 (Table 3). 26.59% of TGNC respondents stated that therapy was "very helpful" for them, compared to 16.08% of cisgender respondents (Table 3). Whereas 9.31% of TGNC individuals and 6.05% of cisgender individuals reported that therapy was "not helpful" for them (Table 3).

In contrast to formal mental healthcare utilization, The HMS also looked at informal measures of emotional or mental health support and help seeking behaviors during times of emotional distress. 57.08% of TGNC respondents stated that they rely on a friend who is not a roommate for emotional and mental support, compared to 39.8% of cisgender respondents (Table 4). In times of serious emotional distress, TGNC respondents reported that they would seek care from a professional clinician or a friend who is not a roommate (54.74% and 55.87% respectively) (Table 4). Whereas 45.61% of cisgender respondents say they would utilize a family member or friend who is not a roommate's support (45.61% and 45.95% respectively) (Table 4).

In regard to the relationship between the timeline of therapy/counseling service utilization and mental health outcomes, the average depression, anxiety, and flourishing scores did not strongly differ based on when a respondent accessed such care. The perceived helpfulness of therapy/counseling was similar across access times but became better as respondents spent more time in care (Table 5).

# Regressions

After controlling for respondents' race, sexuality, sex assigned at birth, and insurance status, the TGNC identity remained statistically significant. While there is a difference between adjusted and unadjusted models, there remains a disparity in mental health outcomes between TGNC and cisgender respondents. As seen in Table 6, the adjusted model shows a statistically significant difference in average anxiety, depression, and flourishing scores. Table 7 reports only adjusted values which compare anxiety, depression, and flourishing scores with the time in which a respondent did or did not access therapy/counseling services. The estimate of such scores remains statistically significant, showcasing the disparities in mental health outcomes despite access to care (Table 7). The estimates in Table 7 show that the gap in anxiety scores is least when a respondent accessed care prior to starting college, that is the smallest estimated difference (0.82) out of anxiety, depression, and flourishing scores. For both depression and flourishing scores, the smallest estimate happened if a respondent utilized services since starting college (1.69 and - 2.22 respectively).

#### DISCUSSION

In this U.S. population-based study of university-enrolled students, I sought to identify the relationship between TGNC-identity, mental healthcare utilization, timeliness of care access, and mental health outcomes. One of the primary takeaways from my study is that TGNC university-enrolled individuals report greater symptoms of mental health conditions and diagnoses and lower indicators of positive mental health than their cisgender peers — which stands in agreement with a lot of the existing literature. I also found that mental health disparities still exist despite higher reports of mental healthcare utilization and peer support networks. A more shocking finding was that TGNC and cisgender respondents on average reported similar perceived helpfulness of therapy services, getting more helpful with longevity of care. The largest gap in average depression, anxiety, and flourishing scores existed among the group of students who had not ever utilized therapy/counseling services. In relation to this, on average, both TGNC and cisgender respondents did not score a high enough score on the Diener test to be described as flourishing or having positive mental health. Therefore, while utilization of therapy/counseling services does not diminish the gap in mental health outcomes between TGNC and cisgender individuals, it does have a positive impact. This points to the need for a more nuanced approach to mental healthcare, specifically for TGNC-identifying university-enrolled individuals, in addition to addressing structural barriers that prevent mental health equity. Overall, these results have salient implications for theory, interventions, and future research as described in the following pages.

# Theoretical Frameworks

The primary theoretical frameworks applied to these findings are the social determinants of health, intersectionality, minority stress theory, resiliency theory, and the behavioral model of health services use. These frameworks overlap and inform one another, especially in the relationship between TGNC identity and mental healthcare utilization. The social determinants of health shape the ways in which TGNC university-enrolled individuals can access mental healthcare services and what the quality of such services are (Casey et al., 2019). However, while the TGNC identity is a statistically significant indicator of mental health status and the impact of therapy/counseling utilization, there are other identities that relate to how a person interacts with mental health services and professionals, showcasing how the TGNC identity does not exist within a vacuum. These identities also engage with structural and social barriers that prevent therapy/counseling from closing the mental health equity gap alone. These identities interlock with the other relevant theoretical frameworks. Furthermore, the proximal and distal stressors that show up in a

TGNC individual's life create the scenarios that lead to worse mental health outcomes (Feldman et al., 2021; White Hughto et al., 2022); thus, necessitating the investigation of mental healthcare utilization among TGNC-identified populations. In contrast to studying the negative factors that negatively impact the TGNC community, investigating resiliency factors and flourishing scores gives context to the ways in which the community thrives and has agency in how it deals with harm (Nicolazzo, 2016). My findings indicate that TGNC people utilize their friends as informal modes of support – agreeing with literature that posits kinship as a resilience factor (Nicolazzo, 2016). TGNC people have also been found to have multiple kinship networks of differing levels of formality (Nicolazzo, 2016); I argue that the willingness to utilize formal mental healthcare can serve as a resilience factor and the support that TGNC individuals garner from providers can serve as an additional kinship network in the face of minority stress. Finally, in regard to the BMHSU, a previous study showed a relationship between the TGNC identity as a predisposing status for mental healthcare utilization (Kittle, 2021) – my findings support this conclusion. The TGNC respondents in the HMS more often reported utilizing mental health services in comparison to their cisgender peers. In conclusion, these theoretical frameworks are applicable to not just the conceptualization of this project, but also a way to understand and apply the findings.

#### *Implications for Mental Healthcare*

These findings necessitate moving from asking for more therapy/counseling services to working on bettering the quality of mental healthcare, increasing representation in providers, and addressing the structural issues that create worse mental health outcomes for the TGNC community. The findings from the HMS (2022) show that perceived helpfulness of therapy/counseling increases with longevity of care (Table 5), but the disparities in mental health outcomes persist despite the perceived helpfulness of services. Thus, formal mental health services are a stopgap to more structural elements that worsen mental health outcomes. They serve as a coping strategy to deal with the existing and pervasive harms that come with existing with a minoritized identity in American society – without fixing the root of the problem.

Notably, the disparities in average depression, anxiety, and flourishing scores are the greatest in students who had not accessed mental healthcare at all (Table 5). This aligns with other research that looks at mental health outcomes and mental healthcare utilization in college students, respondents who did not seek care had higher incidence of poor mental health outcomes (Ebert et al., 2019). The American Psychiatry Association cites that approximately 75% of

people who access therapy/counseling have a decrease in poor mental health symptoms – drawing on previously published work looking at the efficacy of psychodynamic psychotherapy (Shedler, 2010; "What Is Psychotherapy?," 2023). A study published in 2010 found that the positive effects of psychotherapy lasted beyond the duration of treatment (Shedler, 2010). Therapy/counseling services do more than help in the immediate moment but help to create coping tools that last. However, it is clear that this care is not a universal solution for all populations. While therapy/counseling are not the ultimate solution to closing the gap in mental health outcomes, utilization of such services does work to lessen the difference.

There are many barriers to bridging the gaps between mental health outcomes in TGNC individuals. One of the primary barriers is a lack of quality healthcare and fear of discrimination in healthcare settings (Ding et al., 2020; Grant et al., 2011; James et al., 2016). In both the USTS and NTDS, respondents reported having to educate their providers to receive informed and quality care – limiting access and impact (Grant et al., 2011; James et al., 2016). Lack of informed care is linked to lower healthcare utilization and worse health outcomes (Grant et al., 2011; James et al., 2016; Poteat et al., 2013; Rahman et al., 2023). Addressing the quality of the care that TGNC people are receiving would help lessen the gap in mental health outcomes. Integrating trainings on cultural competence has been shown to lower implicit bias and a betterment of diversity-related attitudes – leading to more sensitive and informed care that patients appreciated (Handtke et al., 2019). The addition of increasing the number of informed and educated mental health clinicians serves as an additional intervention point to lessening mental health disparities and promoting thriving.

Previous research has found that representation in healthcare providers matters (Lightfoote et al., 2014; Martos et al., 2018). LGB individuals and racial/ethnic minorities report taking these identities into consideration when choosing a provider or care clinic (Martos et al., 2018). TGNC individuals often want to find a provider with experience working with TGNC people or a mental health provider who also has experience with gender diversity or gender dysphoria – increasing their level of empathy and understanding (Sosin, 2021). Interviewees in the same article discuss that even if a provider is compassionate, without appropriate training or exposure to TGNC people and their experiences the therapy/counseling is not as beneficial (Sosin, 2021). In 2020, the American Association of Medical Colleges published an individual viewpoint article calling for more TGNC identifying providers because patients want to see themselves in their care providers and there is a limited amount of out TGNC identifying

providers (Tanmoy Das, 2020). In context of my findings, while TGNC university-enrolled individuals are accessing formal mental healthcare services at a significantly higher rate than their cisgender peers, they are still reporting significantly worse mental health outcomes. While my study did not look at representation and diversity of providers, based on previous studies, external interviews, and my own experiences, the inclusion of TGNC providers in mental health practices matters in both access to care and impact of such care.

According to the frameworks of social determinants of health and BMHSU, the disparities in mental health make sense in context to the political state of being TGNC in the United States (Casey et al., 2019; Gonzales et al., 2022). As of July, 2023, The American Civil Liberties Union was tracking 491 anti-LGBTQ+ bills in the U.S. ("Mapping Anti-LGBTQ+ Legislation," 2023). These bills range from educational content limitations to youth healthcare bans, all impacting the mental and physical health of LGBTQ+ people living in the United States and specifically states that do not have protective legislation in place (Gonzales et al., 2022; "Mapping Anti-LGBTQ+ Legislation," 2023). These pieces of legislation not only pose as structural limitations to TGNC existence but also as a barrier to feeling accepted and supported by local and national political leaders. A sense of belonging within a community is linked to higher self-esteem, which is linked to a lower incidence of depression (Kosciw et al., 2015; Morgenroth et al., 2021). Previous research has identified community belonging and social support are resilience factors for TGNC individuals, bettering the effectiveness of therapy/counseling (Matsuno & Israel, 2018). Thus, creating safe environments to promote a sense of belonging is necessary for addressing structural issues that may limit the effectiveness of formal mental healthcare services for TGNC individuals.

Another notable finding with implications for not just mental healthcare, but all healthcare, is that a greater percentage of TGNC respondents reported relying on a professional clinician during times of serious emotional distress. Thus, it is imperative that clinicians recognize their role as a part of TGNC individuals' kinship networks and also their position as an integral support network. Continued education and integration of TGNC-informed care practices would make these interactions safer and more reliable for TGNC individuals.

# Implications for TGNC University-Enrolled Students

Similar to the implications for general mental healthcare, university-based care networks would benefit from increasing representation in providers and integrating a variety of opportunities for increasing kinship networks. One of the important takeaways from this data is that TGNC individuals are not alone in their individual suffering. The

average anxiety, depression, and flourishing scores (Table 2) for TGNC individuals point to community-level struggles, while this is not ideal, it is a way to promote a sense of belonging in TGNC university-enrolled people. Furthermore, the average flourishing score for both cisgender and TGNC students is below 46 or the score for positive mental health on the Diener test (Table 2, Table 6). While this is only an average score and does not indicate that all university-enrolled people are not flourishing, it also has the opportunity to create a sense of belonging among all university-enrolled individuals and serve as a call to action to bettering the mental healthcare available on college campuses.

Given that TGNC university-enrolled people reported utilizing therapy/counseling services more than cisgender respondents, there is a call for more nuance in the types of services offered. This includes increasing the representation available in providers to help students feel seen and heard in the services that they are offered – bettering the outcomes of such services. Additionally, an expansion of the services offered to draw on the benefits of both formal and informal services. In regard to formal mental healthcare, integrating group therapy options would draw on the importance of kinship networks for TGNC people and the growing prevalence of peer-support mechanisms in mental healthcare services (Matsuno & Israel, 2018; Nicolazzo, 2016; Shalaby & Agyapong, 2020). I found that TGNC people reported that they were more likely to go to a friend who is not a roommate or professional clinician during serious emotional distress (Table 4); they were also more likely to report relying on a friend who is not a roommate for general emotional and mental support (Table 4). My findings support the utilization of peer support measures in addition to formal mental healthcare services. Another notable finding is that TGNC university-enrolled individuals were less likely to report relying on a family member for general support and support during serious emotional distress (Table 4). This supports findings support the low levels of initial support from family members of people who identify as TGNC (Grossman et al., 2021) and necessitate the bolstering of peer support networks at the university-level. These group therapy sessions should not necessarily be LGBTQ+ community-wide, but rather targeted toward TGNC students specifically, drawing on the historical community support networks or 'chosen families' (Matsuno & Israel, 2018; Nicolazzo, 2016). A recent case study and literature review that investigated the impact of providing university-based group therapy that targeted TGNC and queer and transgender Black, Indigenous, People of Color (QTBIPOC) found that informed care mattered, especially in these populations (O. Scott et al., 2023). Through the facilitation of TGNC and QTBIPOC centric group therapy for

college students, the researchers were able to promote empowerment and collaboration among participants (O. Scott et al., 2023). Therefore, the integration of group therapy for TGNC university-enrolled students can be an effective intervention and kinship promoter.

An additional, non-traditional, type of chosen family or kinship network that proves as a resilience factor and a place to improve flourishing scores for LGBTQ+ people is the inclusion of pet family members (Schmitz et al., 2021). The support of a pet family member and the responsibility for another living being services as a coping mechanism and aids in increasing feelings of happiness or joy (Schmitz et al., 2021). However, many colleges and universities in the U.S. do not allow pets on campus – proving as a barrier to this type of intervention on top of the financial responsibility of a pet (Nova, 2018). The Americans with Disability Act protects service animals and emotional support animals and requires colleges and universities to allow them on campus, however, both of these classifications require documentation (Nova, 2018). Many colleges and universities require formal documentation of the necessity of emotional support animals on campus – serving as a barrier to this care (Nova, 2018). However, the benefits of integrating this intervention stand as a point of consideration and are a way to build kinship networks among not just TGNC university-enrolled students but all students. An alternative to pet-specific intervention could be integrating more regular therapy dog team visits. A recent study conducted on a college campus found that interacting with a therapy dog team for as little as 10 minutes lowered students saliva-based cortisol levels from prior to the interaction (Vaillancourt et al., 2023). Both individual and group interactions with therapy dog teams have also been shown to lower immediate anxiety symptoms in college students (Hanson & Tucker, 2023). Thus, there are multiple ways to integrate animal-based interventions that are targeted to the TGNC university-enrolled population.

Another alternative to talk therapy is art therapy, which would serve as a creative outlet. While this intervention still relies upon a TGNC-informed and educated clinician's presence, it can help strengthen community networks when done in groups and even strengthen the bond between the provider and patient (Scope et al., 2017). Art therapy has also been shown to promote healing and positive self-thought, which makes it a viable option for promoting flourishing and resiliency factors (Scope et al., 2017). It has the opportunity to be done both one-on-one with a therapist and in group settings – calling on existing informal support measures present in TGNC kinship networks.

#### Limitations

There are a few prominent limitations to this study. The first being that these results are not generalizable or representative to the entire TGNC population; especially considering that I had to leave intersex-identifying students out of the results and also that this analysis was unweighted due to the weighting methods implemented by the HMS. The identified TGNC sample size was relatively small (n=4,788) compared to the number of cisgender respondents (n=89,389), leading to less representation as well. The identified TGNC sample size is not entirely rid of potentially bogus responses, 65.38% of identified TGNC respondents opted to write in their gender identity. I did not have the time nor person power to sort through all of the write in responses to discard illegitimate responses.

Beyond the raw data, there are other limitations. The first is that university-enrolled people tend to be a privileged group and thus this impacts their existing access to care because socioeconomic status is a large part of who is able to attend college (Ayyad, 2015). Another significant limitation, that aligns with a lot of other TGNC-centric research, is a lack of racial and ethnic diversity. In this sample of university-enrolled students, 14.54% of TGNC and 15.75% of cisgender respondents stated they were Hispanic/Latinx; 75.17% of TGNC and 66.65% of cisgender respondents stated they were White. In comparison to 21.7% of TGNC and 16.4% of the general U.S. population who stated they were Hispanic/Latinx; 54.7% of TGNC and 62.8% of the general U.S. population who stated they were White (Herman et al., 2022, p. 7).

Finally, the questionnaire administered both the PHQ-9 and GAD-7 to its sample. Research using college students has indicated that the PHQ-9 and GAD-7 are less reliable for LGBTQ+ respondents (Borgogna et al., 2021). This means that the results of this study using both of those scales of mental health outcomes are less reliable and potentially have invariance for LGBTQ+-identifying respondents.

# Moving Forward

This project has potential to inform multiple future projects that center the experiences of TGNC university-enrolled individuals. The HMS did not record geographic location, which in regard to the structural barriers that TGNC people face can be an important determinant of mental and physical health. Therefore, it could be beneficial to not just look at the state in which the respondent is residing in during their time enrolled at a college or university but also at their state of origin prior to school enrollment in relation to mental health outcomes and utilization. Another point of further investigation could be to look at perceived helpfulness and difference in mental health outcomes

based on if a student accessed care on- or off-campus. This study could help target points of improvement for different types of therapy/counseling. Finally, another point of further investigation would be to conduct interviews with university-enrolled students about their perceived helpfulness of therapy/counseling services and relate that to the existing quantitative data that I have collected on perceived helpfulness and mental health outcomes. These interviews could also include people who have not accessed therapy services and why they did not. This could help identify further points of improvement in TGNC-informed care, university-based mental healthcare, and what they would like to see offered.

## **CONCLUSION**

Disparities in mental health outcomes among transgender and gender non-conforming university-enrolled individuals persist beyond access to and utilization of mental healthcare services. My study found that the greatest gap in mental health outcome existed amongst university-enrolled individuals who had never accessed therapy/counseling services – showing that utilization of mental healthcare does have an impact for university-enrolled populations. TGNC respondents, on average, reported higher levels of depression, anxiety, more mental health diagnoses, and lower flourishing scores; they also reported higher utilization of therapy/counseling in their lifetime. However, these mental health disparities exist no matter when students accessed mental healthcare and how helpful they perceived such care to be. Thus, there are more structural and systemic changes that need to occur in parallel to improving the available services. As it stands, therapy/counseling is not a structural approach to addressing mental health disparities and thus we cannot expect it to diminish the gap in mental health outcomes to zero.

TGNC people have shown that they utilize available therapy/counseling services, it is time to move beyond providing more services and decipher what it means to provide TGNC-informed care that builds kinship networks that bolsters community-level and individual healing. Building on the existing kinship networks and chosen families demonstrated in TGNC university-enrolled populations is a point of intervention while further structural changes are implemented. Structural changes range from implementing state-wide or national protective factors through affirming legislation to creating safer spaces for community gathering on college and university campuses and hiring more LGBTQ+ and TGNC-identifying clinicians to provide informed mental healthcare that also builds community support and kinship. The desire to utilize support services and informal care networks provides another point of creative intervention. However, none of these interventions will end mental health disparities between TGNC and cisgender university-enrolled individuals without structural and systemic change to the systems that oppress TGNC people.

## **APPENDIX**

## Tables

Table 1: Sample Demographics

Table 1	Unweighted Sample				
Demographics	Cisgender Re	espondents	TGNC Res	pondents	
Variable	n / [Mean]	% / [SD]	n / [Mean]	% / [SD]	
Age (n=94,177)	[23.52]	[7.40]	[21.60]	[4.78]	
Sexual orientation [select-all-that-apply]					
Heterosexual	66,542	74.44	345	7.21	
Lesbian	2,024	2.26	676	14.12	
Gay	1,865	2.09	447	9.34	
Bisexual	11,573	12.95	1,543	32.23	
Queer	2,516	2.81	1,651	34.48	
Questioning	3,280	3.67	248	5.18	
Asexual	1,842	2.06	690	14.41	
Pansexual	2,133	2.39	886	18.50	
Self-Identify	349	0.39	919	19.19	
Sex assigned at birth (n=94,177)					
Male	25,415	28.43	938	19.59	
Female	63,974	71.57	3,850	80.41	
Gender identity [select-all-that-apply]					
Male/Man	25,415	28.43	662	13.83	
Female/Woman	63,974	71.57	843	17.91	
Trans male/Trans man	0	0.00	775	16.19	
Trans female/Trans woman	0	0.00	255	5.33	
Genderqueer/Gender non-conforming/Non-					
binary	0	0.00	626	13.07	
<b>Self-Identify</b>	0	0.00	3,353	70.03	
Degree enrolled in school [select-all-that-apply]					
Associate's	14,738	16.49	696	14.54	
Bachelor's	52,965	59.25	3,327	69.49	
Master's	9,800	10.96	343	7.16	
JD	747	0.84	23	0.48	
MD	1,039	1.16	18	0.38	
PhD	5,285	5.91	195	4.07	
Non-degree seeking	2,013	2.25	89	1.86	
Other	2,453	2.74	123	2.57	

Enrollment Status (n=89,245)				
Full Time	72,717	85.90	4,060	88.51
Part Time	11,167	13.19	461	10.05
Other	774	0.91	66	1.44
Relationship status (n=94,177)				
Single	41,354	49.62	2,499	55.12
In a relationship	29,612	35.53	1,624	35.82
Married, domestic partnership, or engaged	10,687	12.82	291	6.42
Divorced or separated	855	1.03	10	0.22
Widowed	123	0.15	7	0.15
Other	705	0.85	103	2.27
Hispanic, Latinx (n=94,177)				
Yes	14,081	15.75	696	14.54
No	75,308	84.25	4,092	85.46
Race/ethnicity [select-all-that-apply]				
African American/Black	7,461	8.35	388	8.10
American Indian or Alaskan Native	1,264	1.41	124	2.59
Asian American/Asian	13,204	14.77	579	12.09
Hispanic/Latin(x)	14,081	15.75	696	14.54
Native Hawaiian or Pacific Islander	515	0.58	43	0.90
Middle Eastern, Arab, or Arab American	1,744	1.95	96	2.01
White	59,577	66.65	3,599	75.17
Other	1,216	1.36	155	3.24
Current financial stress status (n=91,770)				
Always stressful	12,551	14.41	925	19.89
Often stressful	20,650	23.70	1,193	25.65
Sometimes stressful	30,546	35.06	1,515	32.57
Rarely stressful	16,986	19.50	774	16.64
Never stressful	6,386	7.33	244	5.25
Financial stress status growing up (n=91,867)				
Always stressful	10,663	12.25	691	14.86
Often stressful	15,254	17.53	986	21.20
Sometimes stressful	22,911	26.32	1,230	26.45
Rarely stressful	23,728	27.26	1,167	25.10
Never stressful	14,481	16.64	576	12.39
Registered as having a disability status on campus (n=85,632)				
No	66,940	82.29	2,389	55.71
Yes	7,458	9.17	873	20.36
I have a diagnosed disability but have not registered with the office of disability services	6,946	8.54	1,026	23.93

Health insurance Status [select-all-that-apply]				
Uncovered [mutually exclusive]	3,009	3.37	124	2.59
I have insurance through my parent/guardian or their employer	44,638	49.94	2,970	62.03
I have insurance through my employer	6,962	7.79	182	3.80
I have insurance through my spouse's employer	2,567	2.87	50	1.04
I have a student health insurance plan	10,635	11.90	588	12.28
I have insurance through an embassy or sponsoring agency for international students	225	0.25	4	0.08
I have individual insurance purchased directly from an insurance carrier	1,713	1.92	53	1.11
I have Medicaid or other governmental insurance	8,336	9.33	470	9.82
I am uncertain about whether I have health insurance	750	0.84	50	1.04
I have health insurance but am uncertain about where it is from	2,158	2.41	121	2.53

Table 2: Mental Health Status

Table 2 Unweighted Sample

14510 2	enweighten sumpre				
Mental Health Status	Cisgender Re	espondents	TGNC Respondents		
Variable	n / [mean]	% /[SD]	n /[mean]	% /[SD]	
Depression score [min=0 max=27] (n=83,994) <sup>a</sup>	[9.1874]	[6.4476]	[13.9243]	[6.6429]	
Anxiety score [min=0 max=21] (n=83,974) <sup>b</sup>	[8.0822]	[5.8786]	[11.3232]	[5.7966]	
Flourish score [min=8 max=56] (n=85,652) $^{\rm c}$	[42.7124]	[8.9489]	[36.8963]	[9.4192]	
Diagnosed mental health condition (n=77,852) <sup>d</sup>					
No	40,616	55.03	898	22.17	
Yes	33,186	44.97	3,152	77.83	
What is the diagnosis? <sup>e</sup>					
Depression	21,732	24.31	2,508	52.38	
Bipolar	2,141	2.4	351	7.33	
Anxiety	26,502	29.65	2,668	55.72	
Obsessive-compulsive or related	4,386	4.91	532	11.11	
Trauma and stressor related	6,619	7.4	987	20.61	
Neurodevelopmental or intellectual	5,830	6.52	1,280	26.73	
Eating disorder	4,361	4.88	520	10.86	
Psychosis	342	0.38	109	2.28	
Personality disorder	828	0.93	200	4.18	
Substance use disorder	1,190	1.33	140	2.92	
No, none of these (mutually exclusive)	40,616	45.44	898	18.76	
Don't know	4,987	5.58	335	7	

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>a.</sup> Created during cleaning as a sum of the scores recorded during the administration of the Patient Health Questionnaire 9 (PHQ-9)

Trauma and stressor related (post-traumatic stress disorder); Neurodevelopmental disorder or intellectual disability (attention deficit disorder, attention deficit hyperactivity disorder, intellectual disability, autism spectrum disorder);

Eating disorder (anorexia nervosa, bulimia nervosa); Psychosis (schizophrenia, schizo-affective disorder); Personality disorder (antisocial personality disorder, paranoid personality disorder, schizoid personality disorder);

Substance use disorder (alcohol abuse, abuse of other drugs)

b. Created during cleaning as a sum of the scores recorded during the administration of the Generalized Anxiety Disorder 7 (GAD-7) questionnaire

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>c.</sup> Created during cleaning as a sum of the scores recorded during the administration of the Diener test as a way to measure positive mental health

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>d.</sup> Created during cleaning to specify if a respondent checked that they had any mental health diagnoses outlined in the following variable regarding what the diagnosis is

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>e.</sup> Depression (major or persistent depressive disorder); Bipolar (bipolar I or II, cyclothymia); Anxiety (generalized or phobias); Obsessive-Compulsive or related (obsessive compulsive disorder or body dysmorphia);

Table 3: Mental Healthcare Utilization

Table 3

**Unweighted Sample** 

Table 3	Unweighted Sample				
Mental Healthcare Utilization	Cisgender Re	espondents	TGNC Res	pondents	
Variable	n / [mean]	% /[SD]	n /[mean]	% /[SD]	
Therapy [lifetime, when] (n=82,683) <sup>a</sup>					
No, never	36,446	46.53	735	16.91	
Yes, prior to starting college	13,466	17.19	926	21.30	
Yes, since starting college	12,948	16.53	793	18.24	
Yes, both prior to and since starting college	15,476	19.76	1,893	43.55	
Therapy [lifetime] (n=82,683) <sup>b</sup>					
Yes	41,890	53.47	3,612	83.09	
No	36,446	46.53	735	16.91	
Which medication [past 12 months] [select-all-that-apply] <sup>c</sup>					
Psychostimulants	4,573	5.12	655	13.68	
Anti-depressants	15,655	17.51	1,776	37.09	
Anti-psychotics	903	1.01	196	4.09	
Anti-anxiety	6,485	7.25	677	14.14	
Mood stabilizers	1,841	2.06	317	6.62	
Sleep medications	3,036	3.40	344	7.18	
Other medication for mental or emotional health	1,822	2.04	286	5.97	
No, none of these	55,544	62.14	2,004	41.85	
Don't know	772	0.86	36	0.75	
Medication [any, past 12 months] (n=80,984) <sup>d</sup>					
Yes	21,186	27.61	2,250	52.89	
No Helpfulness of therapy/counseling (n=45,208) <sup>e</sup>	55,544	72.39	2,004	47.11	
Overall rating	[2.17]	[1.04]	[2.14]	[1.04]	
Very helpful (1)	14,370	16.08	1,273	26.59	
Helpful (2)	11,190	12.52	1009	21.07	
Somewhat helpful (3)	10,646	11.91	868	18.13	
Not helpful (4)	5,406	6.05	446	9.31	
0 4 1 10 1 1 1 1	11 .1				

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>a</sup> Asks if the student has ever received counseling or therapy services for mental health concerns

Anti-depressants (e.g., fluoxetine (Prozac), sertraline (Zoloft), paroxetine (Paxil), escitalopram (Lexapro), venlafaxine (Effexor), Buproprion (Wellbutrin) etc.);

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>b</sup> Indicates that the student responded that they have received a therapy or counseling service in their lifetime based on them checking anything besides "no, never" in the previous question

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>c</sup> Asks if the student has taken any of the included medication in the past 12 months, only counting what they took/are taking several times a week: psychostimulants (methylphenidate (Ritalin or Concerta), amphetamine salts (Adderall), dextroamphetamine (Dexedrine) etc.);

Anti-psychotics (e.g. haloperidol (Haldol), clozapine (Clozaril), risperidone (Risperdal), olanzapine (Zyprexas) etc.);

Anti-anxiety medications (e.g., lorazapam (Ativan), clonazepam (Klonopin), alprazolam (Xanax), buspirone (BuSpar) etc.);

Mood stabilizers (e.g. lithium, valproate (Debpakote), lamotrigine (Lamictal), carbamazepine (Tegretol), etc. );

Sleep medications (e.g., zolpidem (Ambien), zaleplon (Sonata), etc.);

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>d</sup> Created during cleaning to specify if a student selected any of the options in the previous question except "no, none of these" or "don't know"

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>e</sup> Asks the student to rank how helpful the therapy/counseling services they utilized were

Table 4: Support Measures

Significant other/romantic partner

Religious counselor or other religious contact

**Family member** 

Support group

Other non-clinical source

No one [mutually exclusive]

**Unweighted Sample** Table 4 Support Measures **Cisgender Respondents TGNC Respondents** Variable n / [mean] % /[SD] n /[mean] % /[SD] Mental or emotional health support [past 12 months] [selectall-that-apply]a **Roommate** 14,273 15.97 1,048 21.89 Friend (who is not a roommate) 35,577 39.8 2,733 57.08 Significant other 26,204 29.31 35.15 1,683 32,929 Family member 36.84 1,768 36.93 Religious counselor or other religious contact 2,966 3.32 1.38 66 Support group 1,796 2.01 209 4.37 Other non-clinical source 552 0.62 59 1.23 No, none of these [mutually exclusive] 22,124 24.75 688 14.37 Faculty member/professor 3,717 4.16 407 8.5 1,606 1.8 Staff member 164 3.43 Who do you talk to during serious emotional distress [select-all-that-apply]<sup>b</sup> Professional clinician 38.98 34,841 2,621 54.74 **Roommate** 15,961 17.86 940 19.63 41,072 45.95 55.87 Friend (who is not a roommate) 2,675

32,408

40,772

4,836

2,774

888

7,331

36.26

45.61

5.41

3.1

0.99

8.2

1,745

1,629

82

249

87

422

36.45

34.02

1.71

5.2

1.82

8.81

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>a</sup> Question: "In the past 12 months have you received support for your mental or emotional health from any of the following sources?"

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>b</sup> Question: "If you were experiencing serious emotional distress, whom would you talk to about this?"

Table 5: Relationship of Therapy Timeline to Depression, Anxiety, Flourishing, and Perceived Helpfulness

Table 5	<b>Unweighted Sample</b>			
	Cisgender TGNC			
Relationship of Therapy Timeline	Respon		Respor	
Y2-11	n /	% /(GD)	n/	% /(GD)
Variable	[mean]	/[SD]	[mean]	/[SD]
Therapy [lifetime, when] (n=82,683)				
Depression score [min=0 max=27] <sup>a</sup>				
No, never (n=37,181)	[7.58]	[5.96]	[12.44]	[6.93]
Yes, prior to college (n=14,392)	[9.95]	[6.54]	[13.89]	[6.58]
Yes, since starting college (n=13,741)	[10.26]	[6.35]	[13.41]	[6.50]
Yes, both prior to and since starting college (n=17,369)	[11.44]	[6.58]	[14.73]	[6.46]
Anxiety score [min=0 max=21] b				
No, never (n=37,181)	[6.47]	[5.48]	[9.61]	[6.08]
Yes, prior to college (n=14,392)	[8.80]	[5.89]	[11.03]	[5.69]
Yes, since starting college (n=13,741)	[9.21]	[5.71]	[11.22]	[5.60]
Yes, both prior to and since starting college (n=17,369)	[10.29]	[5.82]	[12.15]	[5.64]
Flourish score [min=8 max=56] °				
No, never (n=37,181)	[44.14]	[8.66]	[37.67]	[9.65]
Yes, prior to college (n=14,392)	[41.94]	[9.01]	[36.06]	[9.36]
Yes, since starting college (n=13,741)	[41.69]	[8.71]	[37.71]	[9.09]
Yes, both prior to and since starting college (n=17,369)	[40.97]	[9.14]	[36.65]	[9.39]
Helpfulness of therapy/counseling [min=1 max=4] d				
No, never (n=37,181)	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A
Yes, prior to college (n=14,392)	[2.53]	[1.07]	[2.64]	[1.05]
Yes, since starting college (n=13,741)	[2.18]	[1.02]	[2.18]	[1.04]
Yes, both prior to and since starting college (n=17,369)	[1.85]	[0.94]	[1.87]	[0.93]

a. Created during cleaning as a sum of the scores recorded during the administration of the Patient Health Questionnaire 9 (PHQ-9)

b. Created during cleaning as a sum of the scores recorded during the administration of the Generalized Anxiety Disorder 7 (GAD-7) questionnaire

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>c.</sup> Created during cleaning as a sum of the scores recorded during the administration of the Diener test as a way to measure positive mental health

d. This question was only shown to people who did not select "no, never" when asked if they had ever utilized therapy or counseling services

Table 6: Associations between gender identity and mental health in university-enrolled students in US colleges and universities

Table 6

Associations between gender identity and mental health in university-enrolled students in US colleges and universities

Parameter	Anxiety Score <sup>a</sup>					
	Unad	ljusted (n=82,	386)	Adj	usted <sup>d</sup> (n=77,9	034)
	Est.	95% CI	p	Est.	95% CI	р
Transgender and gender non- conforming [versus cisgender]	3.24***	3.06; 3.42	<.0001	1.44***	1.25; 1.63	<.0001
			Depressi	ion Score b		
	Unad	ljusted (n=83,	994)	Adj	usted <sup>d</sup> (n=79,4	142)
	Est.	95% CI	p	Est.	95% CI	p
Transgender and gender non- conforming [versus cisgender]	4.74***	4.54; 4.93	<.0001	2.36 ***	2.16; 2.57	<.0001
			Flourish	ing Score <sup>c</sup>		

	Unadjusted (n=83,262)			Adjusted " (n=/8,/81)		
	Est.	95% CI	p	Est.	95% CI	p
Transgender and gender non-						
conforming [versus cisgender]	-5.83***	-6.11; -5.56	<.0001	-3.22***	-3.52; -2.94	<.0001

<sup>\*</sup> p < .05, \*\* p < .01, \*\*\*p < .001

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>a.</sup> Created during cleaning as a sum of the scores recorded during the administration of the Generalized Anxiety Disorder 7 (GAD-7) questionnaire

b. Created during cleaning as a sum of the scores recorded during the administration of the Patient Health Questionnaire 9 (PHQ-9)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>c.</sup> Created during cleaning as a sum of the scores recorded during the administration of the Diener test as a way to measure positive mental health

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>d.</sup> Adjusted measures included: race, sex assigned at birth, sexuality, and insurance status

Table 7: Associations between gender identity, mental health, and time of mental healthcare in university-enrolled students in US colleges and universities

Table 7
Associations between gender identity, mental health, and time of mental healthcare in university-enrolled students in US colleges and universities

Parameter		Anxiety Score	e <sup>a</sup>
	Est.	95% CI	р
	Prio	r to starting college	e (n=13,205)
Transgender and gender non-conforming			
[versus cisgender]	0.82***	0.40; 1.24	0.0001
Tuesday and sanday yes sanfayyaina	Sin	ce starting college	(n=12,675)
Transgender and gender non-conforming [versus cisgender]	1.16***	0.72; 1.61	<.0001
[versus disgenuer]		•	g college (n=15,993)
Transgender and gender non-conforming	Both phor t	o and since starting	g conege (11–13,333)
[versus cisgender]	0.99***	0.68; 1.29	<.0001
		No, Never (n=33	3,813)
Transgender and gender non-conforming		•	•
[versus cisgender]	1.54***	1.12; 1.97	<.0001
		Depression Sco	ore <sup>b</sup>
	Est.	95% CI	р
	Prio	r to starting college	e (n=13,356)
Transgender and gender non-conforming			
[versus cisgender]	1.97***	1.51; 2.44	<.0001
	Sin	ice starting college	(n=12,805)
Transgender and gender non-conforming	1.69***	1 21, 2 10	< 0001
[versus cisgender]		1.21; 2.18	<.0001
Transgender and gender non-conforming	Both prior t	o and since starting	g college (n=16,169)
[versus cisgender]	1.84***	1.50; 2.18	<.0001
		No, Never (n=34	l.316)
Transgender and gender non-conforming		, , , ,	,,
[versus cisgender]	2.63***	2.16; 3.09	<.0001
		Flourishing Sco	ore <sup>c</sup>
	Est.	95% CI	р
	Prio	r to starting college	e (n=13,249)
Transgender and gender non-conforming			
[versus cisgender]	-3.48***	-4.13; -2.83	<.0001
	Sin	ice starting college	(n=12,713)
Transgender and gender non-conforming	2 22***	2.00. 4.54	4 0001
[versus cisgender]	-2.22***	-2.89; -1.54	<.0001
Transgender and gender non-conforming	Both prior t	o and since starting	g college (n=16,057)
[versus cisgender]	-2.74***	-3.21; -2.26	<.0001
[.e.aa oogender]	2., ,	No, Never (n=34	
Transgender and gender non-conforming		710, 110 VCI (III-34	.,
[versus cisgender]	-3.67***	-4.35; -3.00	<.0001

<sup>\*</sup> p < .05, \*\* p < .01, \*\*\*p < .001

a. Created during cleaning as a sum of the scores recorded during the administration of the Generalized Anxiety Disorder 7 (GAD-7) questionnaire

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>b.</sup> Created during cleaning as a sum of the scores recorded during the administration of the Patient Health Questionnaire 9 (PHQ-9)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>c.</sup> Created during cleaning as a sum of the scores recorded during the administration of the Diener test as a way to measure positive mental health

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>d.</sup> Adjusted measures included: race, sex assigned at birth, sexuality, and insurance status

Table 8: Variables and survey questions (Healthy Minds Network, 2022)

7	โฉ	hl	P	8
	ı a	n	æ	X

Variable	<b>Survey Question</b>	Answer Choices
Sex Assigned at Birth	"What was your sex	"Female; Male; Intersex"
Gender Identity	assigned at birth?" "What is your gender identity? (Select all that apply)"	"Male; Female; Trans male/ Trans man; Trans female/ Trans woman; Genderqueer/ Gender non- conforming; Self Identify (please specify); Gender
"Diagnosed Mental Illnesses"	"Have you ever been diagnosed with any of the following conditions by a health professional (e.g., primary care doctor, psychiatrist, psychologist, etc.)? (Select all that apply)"	non-binary" "Depression (e.g., major depressive disorder, persistent depressive disorder); Bipolar (e.g., bipolar I or II, cyclothymia); Anxiety (e.g., generalized anxiety disorder, phobias); Obsessive-compulsive or related disorders (e.g., obsessive-compulsive disorder, body dysmorphia); Trauma and Stressor Related Disorders (e.g., post-traumatic stress disorder); Neurodevelopmental disorder or intellectual disability (e.g., attention deficit disorder, attention deficit hyperactivity disorder, intellectual disability, autism spectrum disorder) Eating disorder (e.g., anorexia nervosa, bulimia nervosa); Psychosis (e.g., schizophrenia, schizoaffective disorder); Personality disorder (e.g., antisocial personality disorder, paranoid personality disorder, schizoid personality disorder); Substance use disorder (e.g., alcohol
"Help-Seeking Intentions"	"If you were experiencing serious emotional distress, whom would you talk to about this? (Select all that apply)"	abuse, abuse of other drugs); No, none of these [mutually exclusive]; Don't know." "Professional clinician (e.g., psychologist, counselor, or psychiatrist); Roommate; Friend (who is not a roommate); Significant other/romantic partner; Family member; Religious counselor or other religious contact; Support group; Other non-clinical source (please specify); No one [mutually exclusive]."
"Informal Help-Seeking"  "I Iso of Counseling/Therapy	"In the past 12 months have you received support for your mental or emotional health from any of the following sources? (Select all that apply)"	"Roommate; Friend (who is not a roommate); Significant other; Family member; Religious counselor or other religious contact; Support group; Other non-clinical source (please specify); No, none of these [mutually exclusive]; Faculty member/professor; Staff member."
"Use of Counseling/Therapy Services"	"Have you ever received counseling or therapy for mental health concerns?"	"No, never; Yes, prior to starting college; Yes, since starting college; Yes, both of the above (prior to college and since starting college)."
Helpfulness of Services	"How helpful, overall, do you think therapy or counseling was or has been for your mental or emotional health?"	"Very helpful; helpful; Somewhat helpful; Not helpful."
"Use of Medication"	"In the past 12 months have you taken any of the following types of prescription medications? (Please count only those you	"Psychostimulants (methylphenidate (Ritalin or Concerta), amphetamine salts (Adderall), dextroamphetamine (Dexerdine), etc.); Antidepressants (e.g., fluoxetine (Prozac), sertraline (Zoloft), paroxetine (Paxil), escitalopram

took, or are taking, several times per week

(Lexapro), venlafaxine (Effexor), buproprion (Wellbutrin), etc.); Anti-psychotics (e.g., haloperidol (Haldol), clozapine (Clozaril), risperidone (Risperdal), olanzapine (Zyprexas), etc.); Anti-anxiety medications (e.g., lorazepam (Ativan), clonazepam (Klonopin), alprazolam (Xanax), buspirone (BuSpar), etc.); Mood stabilizers (e.g., lithium, valproate (Depakote), lamotrigine (Lamictal), carbamazepine (Tegretol), etc.); Sleep medications (e.g., zolpidem (Ambien), zaleplon (Sonata), etc.); Other medication for mental or emotional health (please specify); No, none of these [mutually exclusive]; Don't know."

Health Insurance

"What is the source of your current health insurance coverage? (Select all that apply" "I do not have any health insurance coverage (uncovered) [mutually exclusive]; I have health insurance through my parent/guardian(s) or their employer; I have health insurance through my employer; I have health insurance through my spouse's employer; I have a student health insurance plan; I have health insurance through an embassy or sponsoring agency for international students; I have individual health insurance purchased directly from an insurance carrier; I have Medicaid or other governmental insurance; I am uncertain about whether I have health insurance but am uncertain about where it is from."

## **WORKS CITED**

- 2022 National Survey on LGBTQ Youth Mental Health. (2022). The Trevor Project. https://www.thetrevorproject.org/survey-2022/assets/static/trevor01\_2022survey\_final.pdf
- Adams, N. J., & Vincent, B. (2019). Suicidal Thoughts and Behaviors Among Transgender

  Adults in Relation to Education, Ethnicity, and Income: A Systematic Review.

  \*Transgender Health, 4(1), 226–246. https://doi.org/10.1089/trgh.2019.0009
- Anand, P., & Gicheva, D. (2022). The Impact of the Affordable Care Act Medicaid Expansions on the Sources of Health Insurance Coverage of Undergraduate Students in the United States. *Medical Care Research and Review*, 79(2), 299–307. https://doi.org/10.1177/10775587211015816
- Andersen, R., & Aday, L. A. (1978). Access to Medical Care in the U.S.: Realized and Potential.

  Medical Care, 16(7), 533–546.
- Andersen, R. M. (1995). Revisiting the behavioral model and access to medical care: Does it matter? *Journal of Health and Social Behavior*, *36*(1), 1–10.
- Ayyad, F. (2015). Higher Education and Privilege: 21st Century Issues [Special Section].

  \*College Student Affairs Leadership, 2(2).\*

  https://scholarworks.gvsu.edu/cgi/viewcontent.cgi?article=1022&context=csal
- Baams, L., De Luca, S. M., & Brownson, C. (2018). Use of Mental Health Services Among College Students by Sexual Orientation. *LGBT Health*, *5*(7), 421–430.

https://doi.org/10.1089/lgbt.2017.0225

- Becerra-Culqui, T. A., Liu, Y., Nash, R., Cromwell, L., Flanders, W. D., Getahun, D.,
  Giammattei, S. V., Hunkeler, E. M., Lash, T. L., Millman, A., Quinn, V. P., Robinson,
  B., Roblin, D., Sandberg, D. E., Silverberg, M. J., Tangpricha, V., & Goodman, M.
  (2018). Mental Health of Transgender and Gender Nonconforming Youth Compared
  With Their Peers. *Pediatrics*, *141*(5), e20173845. https://doi.org/10.1542/peds.2017-3845
- Beckwith, N., McDowell, M. J., Reisner, S. L., Zaslow, S., Weiss, R. D., Mayer, K. H., & Keuroghlian, A. S. (2019). Psychiatric Epidemiology of Transgender and Nonbinary Adult Patients at an Urban Health Center. *LGBT Health*, *6*(2), 51–61. https://doi.org/10.1089/lgbt.2018.0136
- Blosnich, J. R., Marsiglio, M. C., Dichter, M. E., Gao, S., Gordon, A. J., Shipherd, J. C., Kauth,
  M. R., Brown, G. R., & Fine, M. J. (2017). Impact of Social Determinants of Health on
  Medical Conditions Among Transgender Veterans. *American Journal of Preventive*Medicine, 52(4), 491–498. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.amepre.2016.12.019
- Borgogna, N. C., Brenner, R. E., & McDermott, R. C. (2021). Sexuality and gender invariance of the PHQ-9 and GAD-7: Implications for 16 identity groups. *Journal of Affective Disorders*, 278, 122–130. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jad.2020.09.069
- Bowleg, L. (2008). When Black + Lesbian + Woman ≠ Black Lesbian Woman: The

  Methodological Challenges of Qualitative and Quantitative Intersectionality Research.

  Sex Roles, 59(5–6), 312–325. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11199-008-9400-z
- Brooks, V. R. (1981). *Minority stress and lesbian women*. Lexington Books.
- Butler, R. M., Horenstein, A., Gitlin, M., Testa, R. J., Kaplan, S. C., Swee, M. B., Link to external site, this link will open in a new window, & Heimberg, R. G. (2019). Social anxiety among transgender and gender nonconforming individuals: The role of gender-

- affirming medical interventions. *Journal of Abnormal Psychology*, *128*(1), 25–31. https://doi.org/10.1037/abn0000399
- Carter, S. P., Cowan, T., Snow, A., Cerel, J., & Tucker, R. (2020). Health Insurance and Mental Health Care Utilization Among Adults Who Identify as Transgender and Gender Diverse. *Psychiatric Services*, 71(2), 151–157. https://doi.org/10.1176/appi.ps.201900289
- Casey, L. S., Reisner, S. L., Findling, M. G., Blendon, R. J., Benson, J. M., Sayde, J. M., & Miller, C. (2019). Discrimination in the United States: Experiences of lesbian, gay, bisexual, transgender, and queer Americans. *Health Services Research*, *54 Suppl 2*, 1454–1466. https://doi.org/10.1111/1475-6773.13229
- CDC Social Determinants of Health. (2022, September 8).

  https://www.cdc.gov/publichealthgateway/sdoh/index.html
- Clark, K. A., White Hughto, J. M., & Pachankis, J. E. (2017). "What's the right thing to do?"

  Correctional healthcare providers' knowledge, attitudes and experiences caring for transgender inmates. *Social Science & Medicine*, *193*, 80–89.

  https://doi.org/10.1016/j.socscimed.2017.09.052
- Clements-Nolle, K., Marx, R., & Katz, M. (2006). Attempted suicide among transgender persons: The influence of gender-based discrimination and victimization. *Journal of Homosexuality*, *51*(3), 53–69. https://doi.org/10.1300/J082v51n03\_04
- Crenshaw, K. (1989). Demarginalizing the Intersection of Race and Sex: A Black Feminist

  Critique of Antidiscrimination Doctrine, Feminist Theory and Antiracist Politics.

  University of Chicago Legal Forum, 1.
  - https://chicagounbound.uchicago.edu/cgi/viewcontent.cgi?article=1052&context=uclf

- Dickey, L. M., Thomas, K., Andert, B., Ibarra, N., & Budge, S. L. (2022). The relationship between realization of transgender identity and transition processes with nonsuicidal self-injury in transgender populations. *Psychiatry Research*, *310*, 114332. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.psychres.2021.114332
- Diener, E., Wirtz, D., Tov, W., Kim-prieto, C., Choi, D., Oishi, S., & Biswas-diener, R. (2010).

  New Well-being Measures: Short Scales to Assess Flourishing and Positive and Negative Feelings. *Social Indicators Research*, *97*(2), 143–156. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11205-009-9493-y
- Dietz, E., & Halem, J. (2016). How Should Physicians Refer When Referral Options are Limited for Transgender Patients? *AMA Journal of Ethics*, *18*(11), 1070–1078. https://doi.org/10.1001/journalofethics.2016.18.11.ecas1-1611
- Ding, J. M., Ehrenfeld, J. M., Edmiston, E. K., Eckstrand, K., & Beach, L. B. (2020). A Model for Improving Health Care Quality for Transgender and Gender Nonconforming Patients.
  The Joint Commission Journal on Quality and Patient Safety, 46(1), 37–43.
  https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jcjq.2019.09.005
- Dowd, R. (2021, March 23). Transgender people over four times more likely than cisgender people to be victims of violent crime. Williams Institute.

  https://williamsinstitute.law.ucla.edu/press/ncvs-trans-press-release/
- Ebert, D. D., Mortier, P., Kaehlke, F., Bruffaerts, R., Baumeister, H., Auerbach, R. P., Alonso, J.,
  Vilagut, G., Martínez, K. U., Lochner, C., Cuijpers, P., Kuechler, A.-M., Green, J.,
  Hasking, P., Lapsley, C., Sampson, N. A., Kessler, R. C., & Collaborators, O. behalf of
  the W. W. M. H.-I. C. S. I. (2019). Barriers of mental health treatment utilization among
  first-year college students: First cross-national results from the WHO World Mental

- Health International College Student Initiative. *International Journal of Methods in Psychiatric Research*, 28(2), e1782. https://doi.org/10.1002/mpr.1782
- Eisenberg, D., Ketchen Lipson, S., Heinze, J., Zhou, S., Talaski, A., & Patterson, A. (2022). *The Healthy Minds Study: 2021 Winter/Spring Data Report* (pp. 1–22). The Healthy Minds Network. https://healthymindsnetwork.org/wp-content/uploads/2021/09/HMS\_national\_winter\_2021.pdf
- Eisenberg, M. E., Gower, A. L., McMorris, B. J., Rider, G. N., Shea, G., & Coleman, E. (2017).

  Risk and Protective Factors in the Lives of Transgender/Gender Nonconforming

  Adolescents. The Journal of Adolescent Health: Official Publication of the Society for

  Adolescent Medicine, 61(4), 521–526. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jadohealth.2017.04.014
- Evans, T. M., Bira, L., Gastelum, J. B., Weiss, L. T., & Vanderford, N. L. (2018). Evidence for a mental health crisis in graduate education. *Nature Biotechnology*, *36*(3), 282–285. https://doi.org/10.1038/nbt.4089
- Feldman, J. L., Luhur, W. E., Herman, J. L., Poteat, T., & Meyer, I. H. (2021). Health and health care access in the US transgender population health (TransPop) survey. *Andrology*, *9*(6), 1707–1718. https://doi.org/10.1111/andr.13052
- Felt, D., Xu, J., Floresca, Y. B., Fernandez, E. S., Korpak, A. K., Phillips, G., Wang, X., Curry,
  C. W., & Beach, L. B. (2021). Instability in Housing and Medical Care Access: The
  Inequitable Impacts of the COVID-19 Pandemic on U.S. Transgender Populations.
  Transgender Health. https://doi.org/10.1089/trgh.2021.0129
- Fletcher, J. B., Kisler, K. A., & Reback, C. J. (2014). Housing Status and HIV Risk Behaviors

  Among Transgender Women in Los Angeles. *Archives of Sexual Behavior*, 43(8), 1651–
  1661. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10508-014-0368-1

- Foucault, M. (2015). *The Punitive Society* (B. E. Harcourt, F. Ewald, & A. Fontana, Eds.). Palgrave Macmillan UK. https://doi.org/10.1057/9781137532091
- Gómez, C. A., Kleinman, D. V., Pronk, N., Wrenn Gordon, G. L., Ochiai, E., Blakey, C., Johnson, A., & Brewer, K. H. (2021). Addressing Health Equity and Social Determinants of Health Through Healthy People 2030. *Journal of Public Health Management and Practice*, 27(Supplement 6), S249–S257. https://doi.org/10.1097/PHH.0000000000001297
- Gonzales, G., Tran, N. M., & Bennett, M. A. (2022). State Policies and Health Disparities between Transgender and Cisgender Adults: Considerations and Challenges Using Population-Based Survey Data. *Journal of Health Politics, Policy and Law*, 47(5), 555–581. https://doi.org/10.1215/03616878-9978117
- Grant, J., Mottet, L., Tanis, J., Harrison, J., Herman, J., & Keisling, M. (2011). *Injustice at Every Turn: A Report of the National Transgender Discrimination Survey*. The National Center for Transgender Equality and National Gay and Lesbian Task Force. https://go-gale-com.proxy.library.vanderbilt.edu/ps/i.do?p=AHSI&u=nash87800&id=GALE|AKRXOT8 50135350&v=2.1&it=r&sid=primo
- Greene, R. R., Galambos, C., & Lee, Y. (2004). Resilience Theory: Theoretical and Professional Conceptualizations. *Journal of Human Behavior in the Social Environment*, 8(4), 75–91. https://doi.org/10.1300/J137v08n04\_05
- Grossman, A. H., Park, J. Y., Frank, J. A., & Russell, S. T. (2021). Parental Responses to Transgender and Gender Nonconforming Youth: Associations with Parent Support, Parental Abuse, and Youths' Psychological Adjustment. *Journal of Homosexuality*, 68(8), 1260–1277. https://doi.org/10.1080/00918369.2019.1696103

- Handtke, O., Schilgen, B., & Mosko, M. (2019). Culturally competent healthcare—A scoping review of strategies implemented in healthcare organizations and a model of culturally competent healthcare provision. *PLoS ONE*, *14*(7), e0219971–e0219971. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0219971
- Hankivsky, O. (2012). Women's health, men's health, and gender and health: Implications of intersectionality. *Social Science & Medicine*, 74(11), 1712–1720.
  https://doi.org/10.1016/j.socscimed.2011.11.029
- Hanson, J., & Tucker, H. (2023). *Pilot Study: The Effect of Individual Versus Group Animal- Assisted Therapy on Undergraduate Student Anxiety* [Honors Thesis, The Eleanor Mann School of Nursing].

  https://scholarworks.uark.edu/cgi/viewcontent.cgi?article=1209&context=nursuht
- Healthy Minds Network. (2022). *Healthy Minds Study among Colleges and Universities*, 2021-2022 [Data Set]. University of Michigan, University of California Los Angeles, Boston University, and Wayne State University. https://healthymindsnetwork.org/reserach/data-for-researchers
- Herman, J. L., Flores, A. R., & O'Neill, K. K. (2022). *How many adults and youth identify as transgender in the United States?* The Williams Institute, UCLA School of Law. https://williamsinstitute.law.ucla.edu/wp-content/uploads/Trans-Pop-Update-Jun-2022.pdf
- Hill, D. B., & Willoughby, B. L. B. (2005). The Development and Validation of the Genderism and Transphobia Scale. *Sex Roles*, *53*(7–8), 531–544. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11199-005-7140-x

- Hisle-Gorman, E., Schvey, N. A., Adirim, T. A., Rayne, A. K., Susi, A., Roberts, T. A., & Klein,
  D. A. (2021). Mental Healthcare Utilization of Transgender Youth Before and After
  Affirming Treatment. *The Journal of Sexual Medicine*, 18(8), 1444–1454.
  https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jsxm.2021.05.014
- *HMN Team.* (n.d.). Healthy Minds Network. Retrieved February 15, 2023, from https://healthymindsnetwork.org/hmn-team/
- Jackman, K., Edgar, B., Ling, A., Honig, J., & Bockting, W. (2018). Experiences of transmasculine spectrum people who report nonsuicidal self-injury: A qualitative investigation. *Journal of Counseling Psychology*, 65(5), 586–597. https://doi.org/10.1037/cou0000304
- Jackman, K., Honig, J., & Bockting, W. (2016). Nonsuicidal self-injury among lesbian, gay, bisexual and transgender populations: An integrative review. *Journal of Clinical Nursing*, 25(23–24), 3438–3453. https://doi.org/10.1111/jocn.13236
- James, S. E., Herman, J. L., Rankin, S., Keisling, M., Mottet, L., & Anafi, M. (2016). *The Report of the 2015 U.S. Transgender Survey*. National Center for Transgender Equality. https://transequality.org/sites/default/files/docs/usts/USTS-Full-Report-Dec17.pdf
- Kittle, K. R. (2021). Healthcare of Lesbian, Gay, Bisexual, and Transgender Middle-Aged and Older Adults: The Role of Minority Stress, Sociodemographic Characteristics and Social Resources [Ph.D., University of Massachusetts Boston].

https://www.proquest.com/docview/2546093269/abstract/4FD749387EB04C8EPQ/1

Know Your Rights: Health Care. (2021, October). National Center for Transgender Equality. https://transequality.org/know-your-rights/health-care

- Kosciw, J. G., Palmer, N. A., & Kull, R. M. (2015). Reflecting Resiliency: Openness About Sexual Orientation and/or Gender Identity and Its Relationship to Well-Being and Educational Outcomes for LGBT Students. *American Journal of Community Psychology*, 55(1–2), 167–178. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10464-014-9642-6
- Kroenke, K., Spitzer, R. L., & Williams, J. B. W. (2001). The PHQ-9. *Journal of General Internal Medicine*, 16(9), 606–613. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1525-1497.2001.016009606.x
- Lett, E., & Everhart, A. (2022). Considerations for transgender population health research based on US national surveys. *Annals of Epidemiology*, *65*, 65–71. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.annepidem.2021.10.009
- Lightfoote, J. B., Fielding, J. R., Deville, C., Gunderman, R. B., Morgan, G. N., Pandharipande,
  P. V., Duerinckx, A. J., Wynn, R. B., & Macura, K. J. (2014). Improving Diversity,
  Inclusion, and Representation in Radiology and Radiation Oncology Part 1: Why These
  Matter. *Journal of the American College of Radiology*, 11(7), 673–680.
  https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jacr.2014.03.007
- Lipson, S. K., Lattie, E. G., & Eisenberg, D. (2019). Increased Rates of Mental Health Service

  Utilization by U.S. College Students: 10-Year Population-Level Trends (2007–2017).

  Psychiatric Services, 70(1), 60–63. https://doi.org/10.1176/appi.ps.201800332
- Mann, S. (2021). Transgender employment and gender marker laws. *Labour Economics*, 73, 102072. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.labeco.2021.102072
- Mapping Attacks on LGBTQ Rights in U.S. State Legislatures. (2023). *American Civil Liberties Union*. https://www.aclu.org/legislative-attacks-on-lgbtq-rights

- Marmot, M., Bell, R., & Goldblatt, P. (2013). Closing the gap in a generation: Health equity through action on the social determinants of health. *Revue d'Épidémiologie et de Santé Publique*, 61, S127–S132. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.respe.2013.05.014
- Martos, A. J., Wilson, P. A., Gordon, A. R., Lightfoot, M., & Meyer, I. H. (2018). "Like finding a unicorn": Healthcare preferences among lesbian, gay, and bisexual people in the United States. *Social Science & Medicine*, 208, 126–133. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.socscimed.2018.05.020
- Matsuno, E., & Israel, T. (2018). Psychological Interventions Promoting Resilience Among

  Transgender Individuals: Transgender Resilience Intervention Model (TRIM). *The*Counseling Psychologist, 46(5), 632–655. https://doi.org/10.1177/0011000018787261
- Meyer, I. H. (2003). Prejudice, social stress, and mental health in lesbian, gay, and bisexual populations: Conceptual issues and research evidence. *Psychological Bulletin*, *129*(5), 674–697. https://doi.org/10.1037/0033-2909.129.5.674
- Morgenroth, T., Kirby, T. A., Gee, I. A., & Ovett, T. A. (2021). Born this Way–or Not? The Relationship Between Essentialism and Sexual Minorities' LGBTQ+ Identification and Belonging. *Archives of Sexual Behavior*, *50*(8), 3447–3458. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10508-021-02145-y
- Nicolazzo, Z. (2016). "Just Go In Looking Good": The Resilience, Resistance, and Kinship-Building of Trans\* College Students. *Journal of College Student Development*, *57*(5), 538–556.
- Nova, A. (2018, June 20). Here are the colleges that will allow you to bring furry friends. *CNBC*. https://www.cnbc.com/2018/06/20/here-are-the-colleges-that-will-let-you-bring-your-dog.html

- Oswalt, S. B., Lederer, A. M., Chestnut-Steich, K., Day, C., Halbritter, A., & Ortiz, D. (2020).

  Trends in college students' mental health diagnoses and utilization of services, 2009–2015. *Journal of American College Health*, 68(1), 41–51.

  https://doi.org/10.1080/07448481.2018.1515748
- Padula, W. V., Heru, S., & Campbell, J. D. (2016). Societal Implications of Health Insurance

  Coverage for Medically Necessary Services in the U.S. Transgender Population: A Cost
  Effectiveness Analysis. *Journal of General Internal Medicine*, 31(4), 394–401.

  https://doi.org/10.1007/s11606-015-3529-6
- Parker, K., Menasce Horowitz, J., & Brown, A. (2022). *Americans' Complex Views on Gender Identity and Transgender Issues*. Pew Research Center.

  https://www.pewresearch.org/social-trends/2022/06/28/americans-complex-views-ongender-identity-and-transgender-issues/
- Pascale, A. B., & DeVita, J. M. (2022). Transgender college students' mental health: Comparing transgender students to their cisgender peers. *Journal of American College Health*, 1–7. https://doi.org/10.1080/07448481.2021.2024212
- Peitzmeier, S. M., MHS, M. M., Kattari, S. K., Marrow, E., Stephenson, R., Agénor, M., & Reisner, S. L. (2020). Intimate Partner Violence in Transgender Populations: Systematic Review and Meta-analysis of Prevalence and Correlates. *American Journal of Public Health*, 110(9), E1–E14.
- Phillips, J., & Hempstead, K. (2017). Differences in U.S. Suicide Rates by Educational Attainment, 2000-2014. *American Journal of Preventive Medicine*, *53*(4), e123–e130. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.amepre.2017.04.010

- Pilar, M. R., Cunningham-Williams, R. M., & Williams Woodson, S.-L. L. (2020). Does the Andersen Behavioral Model of Health Services Use predict college students' use of oncampus mental health services? *Journal of American College Health*, 68(6), 631–643. https://doi.org/10.1080/07448481.2019.1583665
- Poteat, T., German, D., & Kerrigan, D. (2013). Managing uncertainty: A grounded theory of stigma in transgender health care encounters. *Social Science & Medicine* (1982), 84, 22–29. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.socscimed.2013.02.019
- Puckett, J. A., Cleary, P., Rossman, K., Newcomb, M. E., & Mustanski, B. (2018). Barriers to Gender-Affirming Care for Transgender and Gender Nonconforming Individuals.

  \*\*Sexuality Research & Social Policy, 15(1), 48–59. https://doi.org/10.1007/s13178-017-0295-8
- Qureshi, R. I., Zha, P., Kim, S., Hindin, P., Naqvi, Z., Holly, C., Dubbs, W., & Ritch, W. (2018).

  Health Care Needs and Care Utilization Among Lesbian, Gay, Bisexual, and Transgender Populations in New Jersey. *Journal of Homosexuality*, 65(2), 167–180.

  https://doi.org/10.1080/00918369.2017.1311555
- Rahman, M., Fikslin, R. A., Matthews, E., Vazquez Sanchez, M. A., Ahn, G. O., Kobrak, P. H., Lovinger, E. S., & Golub, S. A. (2023). Exploring Factors Affecting Patient–Provider Interactions and Healthcare Engagement Among a Diverse Sample of Women Who Have Sex with Women in New York City. *Archives of Sexual Behavior*, 52(2), 833–849. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10508-022-02478-2
- Rich, A. J., Salway, T., Scheim, A., & Poteat, T. (2020). Sexual Minority Stress Theory:

  Remembering and Honoring the Work of Virginia Brooks. *LGBT Health*, 7(3), 124–127.

  https://doi.org/10.1089/lgbt.2019.0223

- Schmitz, R. M., Link to external site, this link will open in a new window, Tabler, J., Carlisle, Z. T., & Lexi, A. (2021). LGBTQ+ People's Mental Health and Pets: Novel Strategies of Coping and Resilience. *Archives of Sexual Behavior*, 50(7), 3065–3077. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10508-021-02105-6
- Scope, A., Uttley, L., & Sutton, A. (2017). A qualitative systematic review of service user and service provider perspectives on the acceptability, relative benefits, and potential harms of art therapy for people with non-psychotic mental health disorders. *Psychology and Psychotherapy: Theory, Research and Practice*, 90(1), 25–43. https://doi.org/10.1111/papt.12093
- Scott, J. (2019, November 4). Programs Focused on the Social Determinants of Health:

  Balancing Costs and Outcomes. *Applied Policy*. https://appliedpolicy.com/programs-focused-on-the-social-determinants-of-health-balancing-cost-and-outcomes/
- Scott, O., León, V., & Blakely, V. G. (2023). Empowering TNBGE and QTBIPOC Students through Clinical Group Practice in University Settings. *Women & Therapy*, 1–22. https://doi.org/10.1080/02703149.2023.2226018
- Shalaby, R. A. H., & Agyapong, V. I. O. (2020). Peer Support in Mental Health: Literature Review. *JMIR Mental Health*, 7(6), e15572. https://doi.org/10.2196/15572
- Shedler, J. (2010). The efficacy of psychodynamic psychotherapy. *American Psychologist*, 65(2), 98–109. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0018378
- Shires, D. A., Stroumsa, D., Jaffee, K. D., & Woodford, M. R. (2018). Primary care providers' willingness to continue gender-affirming hormone therapy for transgender patients.

  Family Practice, 35(5), 576–581. https://doi.org/10.1093/fampra/cmx119

- Sosin, K. (2021, June 14). For transgender people, finding mental health services that meet their needs is difficult. *The 19th.* https://19thnews.org/2021/06/transgender-people-mental-health-services-meet-needs-difficult/
- Spitzer, R. L., Kroenke, K., Williams, J. B. W., & Löwe, B. (2006). A brief measure for assessing generalized anxiety disorder: The GAD-7. *Archives of Internal Medicine*, 166(10), 1092–1097. https://doi.org/10.1001/archinte.166.10.1092
- Tan, K. K. H., Yee, A., & Veale, J. F. (2022). "Being Trans Intersects with My Cultural Identity": Social Determinants of Mental Health Among Asian Transgender People.
  Transgender Health, 7(4), 329–339. https://doi.org/10.1089/trgh.2021.0007
- Tanmoy Das, L. (2020, September 1). We need more transgender and gender nonbinary doctors.

  \*\*AAMC.\*\* https://www.aamc.org/news/we-need-more-transgender-and-gender-nonbinary-doctors\*\*
- The Healthy Minds Study (HMS): 2021-22 Academic Year Student Survey Codebook. (2022). [Codebook]. The Healthy Minds Network.
- Thomas, N. S., Barr, P. B., Hottell, D. L., Adkins, A. E., & Dick, D. M. (2021). Longitudinal Influence of Behavioral Health, Emotional Health, and Student Involvement on College Student Retention. *Journal of College Student Development*, 62(1), 2–18.
- Turban, J. L., King, D., Li, J. J., & Keuroghlian, A. S. (2021). Timing of Social Transition for Transgender and Gender Diverse Youth, K-12 Harassment, and Adult Mental Health Outcomes. *Journal of Adolescent Health*, 69(6), 991–998.
  https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jadohealth.2021.06.001
- Vaillancourt, V., Kutka, P., Percoco, J., & Giordano, S. (2023, April 28). The Impact of Brief

  Animal Assisted Therapy Dog Interactions on College Student Stress and Self-Efficacy

- Levels [Poster]. Academic Festival, Sacred Heart University. https://digitalcommons.sacredheart.edu/acadfest/2023/all/59/
- What is Psychotherapy? (2023, April). *American Psyciatric Association*. https://www.psychiatry.org:443/patients-families/psychotherapy
- White, B. P., & Fontenot, H. B. (2019). Transgender and non-conforming persons' mental healthcare experiences: An integrative review. *Archives of Psychiatric Nursing*, 33(2), 203–210. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.apnu.2019.01.005
- White Hughto, J. M., Meyers, D. J., Mimiaga, M. J., Reisner, S. L., & Cahill, S. (2022).

  Uncertainty and Confusion Regarding Transgender Non-discrimination Policies:

  Implications for the Mental Health of Transgender Americans. *Sexuality Research and Social Policy*, 19(3), 1069–1079. https://doi.org/witt
- White Hughto, J. M., Reisner, S. L., & Pachankis, J. E. (2015). Transgender stigma and health: A critical review of stigma determinants, mechanisms, and interventions. *Social Science & Medicine*, *147*, 222–231. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.socscimed.2015.11.010
- Wilkinson, L., Pearson, J., & Liu, H. (2018). Educational attainment of transgender adults: Does the timing of transgender identity milestones matter? *Social Science Research*, 74, 146–160. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ssresearch.2018.04.006
- Wilson, E. C., Chen, Y.-H., Arayasirikul, S., Fisher, M., Pomart, W. A., Le, V., Raymond, H. F.,
  & McFarland, W. (2015). Differential HIV Risk for Racial/Ethnic Minority Trans\*female
  Youths and Socioeconomic Disparities in Housing, Residential Stability, and Education.
  American Journal of Public Health, 105(S3), E41–E47.

- Wittlin, N. M., Kuper, L. E., & Olson, K. R. (2023). Mental Health of Transgender and Gender Diverse Youth. *Annual Review of Clinical Psychology*, *19*(1), annurev-clinpsy-072220-020326. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-clinpsy-072220-020326
- Zaliznyak, M., Yuan, N., Bresee, C., Freedman, A., & Garcia, M. M. (2021). How Early in Life do Transgender Adults Begin to Experience Gender Dysphoria? Why This Matters for Patients, Providers, and for Our Healthcare System. *Sexual Medicine*, *9*(6), 100448. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.esxm.2021.100448